Evaluation of the Local Incidence and Determinants of Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia and Pulmonary Morbidity in Extremely Preterm Infants

by

Amber Elise Reichert

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

CLINICAL EPIDEMIOLOGY

Department of Public Health Sciences University of Alberta

© Amber Elise Reichert, 2014

Dedication

For my husband and my wonderful two boys who inspire me every day to grow and learn.

Abstract

Prevention and management of bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) and resulting pulmonary morbidity remains one of the greatest challenges of neonatal intensive care. This study of infants from northern and central Alberta had three goals: first, to estimate the incidence and risk factors contributing to the development of BPD; second, to estimate the incidence and risk factors contributing to the development of pulmonary morbidity in early infancy; and third, to evaluate the use of two specific early scoring systems in the prediction of BPD and early pulmonary morbidity.

Methods: This observational prospective study was conducted on a cohort of 103 premature infants born at < 29 weeks gestational age or birth weight ≤ 1250 grams who were discharged from the Royal Alexandra Hospital, Edmonton, Alberta from August 1, 2008 to July 31, 2009. Hospital data were collected retrospectively through patient chart review and telephone and in person questionnaires administered when the study subjects were three and six months adjusted age. The incidence of bronchopulmonary dysplasia, defined as mild if oxygen was needed at 28 days of life, moderate if <30% supplemental oxygen was needed at 36 weeks post-menstrual age and severe if >30% oxygen was needed, the infant required ventilator support at 36 weeks post-menstrual age or oxygen support was required at hospital discharge. Maternal, antenatal and post-natal risk factors, including two pulmonary Severity (PS) Score, were evaluated by logistic regression in the prediction of BPD and pulmonary morbidity in early infancy. Infants in this cohort

were evaluated for the presence of major pulmonary morbidity in the first 6 months post-discharge, including 1) death from a pulmonary cause; 2) pneumonia or sepsis with a positive blood culture or requiring antibiotics for 5 days or more; 3) continued hospitalization or rehospitalization for a pulmonary cause; 4) continued use of oxygen, diuretics or systemic steroids for pulmonary disease; or 5) use of pulmonary medications, including systemic or inhaled bronchodilators and/or corticosteroids or leukotriene receptor antagonists.

Results: Overall incidence of moderate to severe BPD was 44.7%. In the univariate analysis, significant risk factors included lower gestational age, birth weight and male gender. Apgar scores at 1 and 5 minutes were significantly lower for infants developing moderate or severe BPD and these infants were significantly less likely to have received antenatal corticosteroids. When controlling for antenatal and postnatal variables, such as duration of ventilation and presence of retinopathy of prematurity, pulmonary scores applied at days 2 and 7 were not significantly associated with the development of BPD. Overall, at 3 months 20.5% of infants were reported as having one or more of the above morbidities. Similarly, 24.5% of infants with six-month follow-up data were reported as having one or more of the above morbidities. In the multivariate analysis, risk factors associated with pulmonary morbidity at six months corrected age included the presence of moderate to severe BPD, younger maternal age, duration of invasive and non-invasive ventilation, COD score at day 7 and history of atopy. The COD and PS scores were significant predictors of pulmonary morbidity at 6 months corrected age, but the prediction improved when applied at 2 days of age compared with scoring at day 7, however

iv

the prediction of pulmonary morbidity was not significant at 6 months when controlling for other risk factors.

Conclusion: In spite of improvements in neonatal care, the incidence of bronchopulmonary dysplasia remains high in infants requiring prolonged ventilation in spite of improvements in neonatal care. Infants born prematurely are at risk for pulmonary morbidity in early infancy however early prediction models are of limited clinical utility.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Amber E. Reichert. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia", Pro00003364. No part of this thesis has been previously published.

Acknowledgement

I extend my sincere appreciation to Dr. Don Spady. His unending patience and supportive guidance through the completion of this project are greatly appreciated. I also thank Dr. Leonora Hendson for her support in the development and undertaking of this project and Dr. Sentil Senthilselvan for his guidance and advice.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1:	1
Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia in Premature Infants 1.1 Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia	1
1.2 Defining BPD	
1.3 Incidence of BPD in North America and Regionally	
1.4 Pathogenesis of BPD	
1.4.1 The Role of Lung Development in BPD 1.4.2 The Role of Antenatal Corticosteroid, Respiratory Distress Syndrome and Surfactan	
BPD	
1.4.3 The Role of Inflammation in BPD	
1.5 Modifiable Risk Factors and BPD	
1.6 Non-Invasive Ventilation and BPD	
1.6.1 Nasal Continuous Positive Airway Pressure	
1.6.2 Non-invasive Intermittent Positive Pressure	
1.6.3 Synchronized Non-invasive Intermittent Positive Pressure	. 31
1.6.4 Unsynchronized Non-invasive Intermittent Positive Pressure	
1.7 Summary	. 34
CHAPTER 2:	. 36
Prediction Models and Pulmonary Outcomes in Premature Infants	. 36
2.1 Prediction Models for BPD	. 36
2.2 Pulmonary Morbidity in Early Childhood	. 42
2.2.1 Impact of BPD on Pulmonary Morbidity	. 42
2.3 Impact of BPD on Neurodevelopment	. 51
CHAPTER 3:	. 56
Local Incidence and Determinants of Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia and Pulmonary	
Morbidity in Premature Infants	
 Background Study Hypothesis: 	
3.3 Objectives	
3.4 Methods	
3.4.1 Study Design and Study Subjects	
3.4.2 Respiratory Management	
3.5 Data Collection	
3.6 Statistical Analysis	
3.6.1 Sample Size	. 67
CHAPTER 4:	. 70
Results	. 70
4.1 Characteristics of Participants	
4.2 Factors Associated with BPD	
4.3 Chronic Oxygen Dependency & Pulmonary Severity Score	
4.4 Predictors of Pulmonary Morbidity at 3 and 6 Months	

CHAPTER 5:	
Discussion & Conclusions	
5.1 Risk Factors Associated with BPD	
5.2 Risk Factors Associated With Pulmonary Morbidity in Early Infancy	103
5.3 Conclusion	105
References:	107

List of Tables

Table 1-1. NICHD/NHLBI/ORD Definition of BPD in Infants Born <32 Weeks Gestation	6
Table 1-2. Risk Factor Classification for BPD	20
Table 2-1. Sensitivities and Specificities of the COD Score Applied at 7 Days of Age	41
Table 4-1. BPD Severity by Gestational Age	72
Table 4-2. Characteristics of Infants With and Without BPD	74
Table 4-3. Predictors of Moderate/Severe BPD or Death: Results from Univariate	
Logistic Regression	75
Table 4-4. Predictors of Moderate/Severe BPD or Death: Results from Multiple Logistic Regression	78
Table 4-5. Demographic Characteristics of Infants With and Without Pulmonary Morbidity at 3 Months Corrected Age (n = 88)	82
Table 4-6. Neonatal & Respiratory Characteristics of Infants With and Without Pulmonary	
Morbidity at 3 Months Corrected Age (n = 88)	83
Table 4-7. Risk Factors in Infants With and Without Pulmonary Morbidity at 3 Months	
Corrected Age (n = 88)	84
Table 4-8. Demographic Characteristics of Infants With and Without Pulmonary Morbidity at 6 Months Corrected Age (n = 94)	86
Table 4-9. Neonatal & Respiratory Characteristics of Infants With and Without Pulmonary	
Morbidity at 6 Months Corrected Age (n = 94)	87
Table 4-10. Characteristics of Infants With and Without Pulmonary Morbidity at 6 Months	
Corrected Age (n = 94)	88
Table 4-11. Area Under the Curve for COD and PS Scores at Days 2 and 7 for BPD and PulmonaryMorbidity at 3 and 6 Months Corrected Age	91
Table 4-12. Univariate Analysis of Factors Associated With Pulmonary Morbidity at 6 Months Corrected Age (n = 94)	92
Table 4-13. Stepwise Logistic Regression: Pulmonary Morbidity at 6 Months Corrected Age (n = 91)	

List of Figures

Figure 1-1. Stages of Lung Development Through the Fetal Period	13
Figure 3-1. Description of Study Sample	69
Figure 4-1. Distribution of BPD or Death by Gestational Age	71
Figure 4-2. Receiver Operating Characteristic Curves - COD7 and PS7	80
Figure 4-3. Comparison of Receiver Operating Characteristic Curves for COD and PS Scores	
at Days 2 and 7 for 3 Month Pulmonary Morbidity	90
Figure 4-4. Comparison of Receiver Operating Characteristics Curves for COD and PS Scores	
at Days 2 and 7 for 6 Month Pulmonary Morbidity	90

List of Abbreviations

BLESBovine Lipid Extract SurfactantBPDBronchopulmonary DysplasiaGIConfidence IntervalCODChronic Oxygen Dependency (score)CPAPContinuous Positive Airway PressureCTComputed TomographyGAGestational AgeGBSGroup B StreptococcusHFOVHigh Frequency Oscillatory VentilationFEV1Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 secondFVCForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Oscillation TechniqueINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationINPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageIVFNNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNCPAPMNacal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNCPAPMNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICHDNacal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNICHDNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROlds RatioPDAPitent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPischomotor Developmental IndexPDIPistive End-Expiratory PressurePIPPistive Inspiratory Pressure	ADHD	Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
CIConfidence IntervalCODChronic Oxygen Dependency (score)CPAPContinuous Positive Airway PressureCTComputed TomographyGAGestational AgeGBSGroup B StreptococcusHFOVHigh Frequency Oscillatory VentilationFEV1Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 secondFOTForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Vital CapacityiNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationIPPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNPIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	BLES	Bovine Lipid Extract Surfactant
CODChronic Oxygen Dependency (score)CODContinuous Positive Airway PressureCTComputed TomographyGAGestational AgeGBSGroup B StreptococcusHFOVHigh Frequency Oscillatory VentilationFEV1Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 secondFOTForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Vital CapacityiNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationIUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasel Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNPIPPVAsal Continuous Positive Pressure VentilationNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intersive Care UnitNIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	BPD	Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia
CPAPContinuous Positive Airway PressureCTComputed TomographyGAGestational AgeGBSGroup B StreptococcusHFOVHigh Frequency Oscillatory VentilationFEV1Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 secondFOTForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Vital CapacityiNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationIPPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNPIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPDIPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	CI	Confidence Interval
CTComputed TomographyGAGestational AgeGBSGroup B StreptococcusHFOVHigh Frequency Oscillatory VentilationFEV1Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 secondFOTForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Vital CapacityiNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVFNIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVFNIntraventricular HemorrhageFNCSociolations Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNICHDNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICHDNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPitent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPisychomotor Developmental IndexPDIPisychomotor Developmental Index	COD	Chronic Oxygen Dependency (score)
GAGestational AgeGBSGroup B StreptococcusHFOVHigh Frequency Oscillatory VentilationFEV1Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 secondFOTForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Vital CapacityiNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationIPPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	СРАР	Continuous Positive Airway Pressure
GBSGroup B StreptococcusHFOVHigh Frequency Oscillatory VentilationFEV1Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 secondFOTForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Vital CapacityiNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationIPPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	СТ	Computed Tomography
HFOVHigh Frequency Oscillatory VentilationFEV1Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 secondFOTForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Vital CapacityiNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationIPPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	GA	Gestational Age
FEV1Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 secondFOTForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Vital CapacityiNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationIPPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	GBS	Group B Streptococcus
FOTForced Oscillation TechniqueFVCForced Vital CapacityiNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationIVPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Internsive Care UnitNIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	HFOV	High Frequency Oscillatory Ventilation
FVCForced Vital CapacityiNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationINSUREIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIUGRIntraventricular HemorrhageIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageKFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICHDNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	FEV_1	Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second
iNOinhaled Nitric OxideINSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationIPPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	FOT	Forced Oscillation Technique
INSUREIntubation, SURfactance, ExtubationINSUREIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIPPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	FVC	Forced Vital Capacity
IPPVIntermittent Positive Pressure VentilationIUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIUGRIntraventricular HemorrhageIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	iNO	inhaled Nitric Oxide
IUGRIntrauterine Growth RestrictionIVHIntraventricular HemorrhageLFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	INSURE	Intubation, SURfactance, Extubation
IVHIntraventricular HemorrhageIVFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	IPPV	Intermittent Positive Pressure Ventilation
LFNCLow Flow Nasal CannulaNCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNPIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	IUGR	Intrauterine Growth Restriction
NCPAPNasal Continuous Positive Airway PressureNECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNPIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	IVH	Intraventricular Hemorrhage
NECNecrotizing EnterocolitisNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNPIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	LFNC	Low Flow Nasal Cannula
NICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNPIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	NCPAP	Nasal Continuous Positive Airway Pressure
NICUNeonatal Intensive Care UnitNIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNPIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	NEC	Necrotizing Enterocolitis
NIPPVNasal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationNPIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	NICHD	National Institute of Child Health and Human Development
NPIPPVNasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure VentilationOROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	NICU	Neonatal Intensive Care Unit
OROdds RatioPDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	NIPPV	Nasal Intermittent Positive Pressure Ventilation
PDAPatent Ductus ArteriosusPDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	NPIPPV	NasoPharyngeal Intermittent Positive Pressure Ventilation
PDIPsychomotor Developmental IndexPEEPPositive End-Expiratory Pressure	OR	Odds Ratio
PEEP Positive End-Expiratory Pressure	PDA	Patent Ductus Arteriosus
	PDI	Psychomotor Developmental Index
PIP Positive Inspiratory Pressure	PEEP	Positive End-Expiratory Pressure
	PIP	Positive Inspiratory Pressure

PPV	Positive Pressure Ventilation
PS	Pulmonary Severity (score)
RDS	Respiratory Distress Syndrome
RFS	Respiratory Failure Score
ROC	Receiver Operating Characteristic (curves)
ROP	Retinopathy of Prematurity
RSV	Respiratory Syncytial Virus
VLBW	Very Low Birth Weight

CHAPTER 1:

Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia in Premature Infants

1.1 Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia

Premature infants are at increased risk for developing bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD), a disorder of respiratory function defined by a persistent need for supplemental oxygen beyond the neonatal period (1). In addition to preterm birth, many factors contribute to increased risk, including baseline differences in genetic and somatic susceptibility and exposure to protective or harmful intrauterine and post-natal factors (2). In addition to low birth weight and gestational age, many other risk factors have been identified that result in inflammation, such as invasive ventilation and infection. These risk factors have a role in lung injury and the development of BPD. The purpose of this research is to evaluate the incidence of BPD in a local cohort of extremely premature infants and to determine the relative influence of key risk factors that occur in the perinatal and post-natal environment.

BPD is a well-known cause of lung morbidity in the preterm population, however the extent of pulmonary morbidity in the early post-discharge time period is quite variable. This study will also be used to evaluate the relative incidence of pulmonary morbidity and risk factors in addition to BPD that are related to pulmonary morbidity during the first 6 months of life. A further goal of the study is to evaluate the ability of simple clinical scoring tools applied early in the neonatal period in the prediction of BPD and early pulmonary morbidity.

Diagnostic criteria for BPD have changed over time with technological advances in ventilation and better understanding of the role of perinatal and post-natal risk factors in pathogenesis and management. Through the 1970s to mid 1990s, BPD was defined as persistent oxygen need at 28 days of life (3,4). In more recent decades, the definition has changed with descriptions of degrees of BPD severity based on ventilation support at different time points in the neonatal period, with less emphasis on radiographic changes as a requirement for diagnosis (5-7). In a landmark paper, Shennan, Dunn and Lennox demonstrated that oxygen and ventilation needs at 36 weeks adjusted age in infants with birth weights of 1500 grams or less was more predictive of abnormal lung function in the first two years of life than oxygen and ventilation needs during the first 28 days of life (5). Although improved care practices have led to the survival of increasingly immature infants, the incidence of BPD has changed little in the past few decades, ranging from 23 to 46% in infants born below 29 weeks gestational age (8-12). Over time, trends in neonatal care such as increasing use of antenatal corticosteroids and post-natal surfactant have resulted in increasing survival of the smallest and lowest gestational age infants (8). Improvements in care may also improve rates of BPD in older infants, but with increasing survival of smaller infants, the overall rate of BPD is relatively unchanged (8,9). In addition, the use of potentially harmful therapies that may have improved the rates of BPD, such as post-natal corticosteroids and lower oxygen targets have decreased in recent years due to increased risk of disability and death (11,13). The use of individualized lung-targeted therapies such as antenatal corticosteroids, post-natal surfactant, with early extubation, and gentle or non-invasive ventilation strategies are of prime importance in the medical care of very premature infants reducing early illness severity and improving survival but at the potential cost of higher overall rates of morbidities such as BPD (8,12).

Premature infants with and without a history of BPD are at increased risk for chronic respiratory morbidity, including recurrent hospitalization, chronic dependency on bronchodilators and corticosteroid therapy, reduced activity tolerance and athletic ability and increased risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (14). The use of validated scoring criteria applied early in the neonatal period may facilitate early recognition of infants at higher risk for BPD and pulmonary morbidity. Validated scoring systems would allow for targeted management strategies that optimize the use of potentially harmful therapies, such as postnatal corticosteroids. Critical review of changes in practice will enable caregivers to assess the effects of changing care strategies over time and determine if rates of BPD are changing and if long term pulmonary outcomes are improved.

3

1.2 Defining BPD

Over time, as understanding of the pathophysiology and consequences of BPD have increased and management strategies have been refined, the criteria for diagnosing BPD have evolved. Historically, the term "bronchopulmonary dysplasia" was used to describe clinical, radiographic, and histopathologic changes seen in the lungs of infants dying from the complications of prematurity (3,15). Advances in the understanding of how lung development is affected by premature birth have led to improvements in neonatal resuscitation and management, and consequently lower morbidity and mortality (15). For example, researchers evaluating the use of room air during resuscitation compared with the use of 100% inspired oxygen in order to decrease early oxidative stress found that BPD rates were significantly reduced from 25% to 7% in infants born between 24 and 34 weeks gestation (16). Improvements in clinical care, especially in ventilation strategies, have increased survival of very early preterm infants resulting in a different clinical picture of lung disease compared with that described in 1967 (15).

In 1989, in an attempt to standardize diagnostic criteria for BPD, the BMCHRD Guidelines were generated (1). They included:

- positive pressure ventilation during the first two weeks of life for a minimum of three days;
- clinical signs of respiratory compromise persisting longer than
 28 days of age;

- 3. requirements for supplemental oxygen longer than 28 days of age to maintain a P_aO_2 above 50 mmHg;
- 4. chest radiographs with findings characteristic of BPD (1).

However, these guidelines were problematic because determining ventilatory need in the first two weeks of life and interpreting radiographic findings were subjective and based on the clinical judgment of the attending physician. As more extremely preterm infants survive our understanding of the pathophysiology of the disease has progressed but the clinical definition of BPD has become more challenging (7,17,18). The definition was revised in 2001 at the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development /National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute/Office of Rare Diseases Workshop, such that infants born before 32 weeks gestation were classified based on need for supplemental oxygen at 28 days and either 36 weeks post-menstrual age or at discharge (Table 1-1) (7).

Today, the term BPD commonly refers to the clinical picture of prolonged oxygen dependency after premature birth; an alternative, equivalent term is "chronic lung disease of infancy" or "neonatal chronic lung disease" (7). Clinicians continue to rely on physiologic parameters such as arterial saturation and clinical assessment of overall health and nutritional status to determine need for supplemental oxygen (7). The 2001 NICHD/NHLBI/ORD has simplified the definition of BPD, basing it solely on the use of supplemental oxygen; however, this has not eliminated the subjective nature of determining which infants need oxygen or ventilation support and how much support should be provided (7). More recently a physiologic definition of BPD has been proposed using an oxygen reduction test with oxygen saturation monitoring to provide a more objective evaluation of oxygen dependency at 36 weeks corrected gestational age (9,10).

Table 1-1. NICHD/NHLBI/ORD Definition of BPD in Infants Born <32 Weeks Gestation

	Assessment at 28 days	Assessment at 36 weeks PMA or Discharge Home
No BPD	breathing room air	breathing room air
Mild BPD	need for oxygen > 21%	breathing room air
Moderate BPD	need of oxygen > 21%	need for <30% oxygen
Severe		need for ≥30% oxygen
BPD	need for oxygen > 21%	and/or positive pressure
ע וע		(PPV or NCAP)

(modified from: (7))

1.3 Incidence of BPD in North America and Regionally

Advances in the care of the preterm lung have resulted in an expectation that the incidence of BPD would improve over time, however it seems to vary more with birth weight than with the decade when the care was provided. Since the early 1980s the use of antenatal corticosteroids, postnatal surfactant and gentle ventilation strategies increased; however, the incidence of BPD continued to be high, ranging from 29% to 52% of infants with birth weights under 1000 grams (8,19,20). The Caffeine therapy for apnea of prematurity (CAP) trial demonstrated similar rates of BPD in babies born < 1250 grams between 1999 and 2004: 48% and 36% in the placebo and caffeine treatment groups respectively (21). In a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of inhaled nitric oxide conducted between 2000 and 2005, infants with birth weight< 1250 grams had an incidence of BPD of 50.7% in the treatment group versus 56.9% in the placebo group, though these infants were selected for this study based on a need for ventilation, which may have introduced bias into the results (22). Data from the Canadian Neonatal Network also demonstrate the inverse relationship of BPD rates with birth weight (23,24). Overall, 26% of infants with birth weights of < 1500 grams developed BPD; with the highest rate (54%) in those at the lowest birth weights (23). Contrary to the expectation of improved outcomes over time, results from the Canadian Neonatal Network (CNN) database demonstrated that oxygen dependency at 36 weeks post-menstrual age in infants born less than 29 weeks gestation increased

from 34.7% in 1996-97 to 46.1% in 2006-07 in 15 Canadian Neonatal Intensive Care Units, possibly due to higher rates of infants with exposure to partial antenatal corticosteroid treatment, higher rates of cesarean delivery and sicker infants as reflected by lower SNAP scores (12). In Edmonton, the overall incidence of BPD in the period from 1997 to 2003 was 31% for infants born between 24 and 29 weeks gestation, with approximately 83% of mothers receiving antenatal corticosteroids (retrospective review of inborns < 1250 grams from the Royal Alexandra Hospital – personal communication, L. Hendson). The incidence continues to be inversely proportional to gestational age with rates as high as 50-70% in infants born between 24 and 26 weeks gestation decreasing to 10% at 29 weeks gestation (local review of data – personal communication, L. Hendson). There is some evidence that the use of benchmarking may reduce overall incidence of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Using the Evidence-based Practice for Improving Quality (EPIQ) method, CNN investigators demonstrated that a reduction in the baseline risk of BPD does occur when specific management practices targeting organizational culture implemented and compared are between geographically separate neonatal units (25)

1.4 Pathogenesis of BPD

Injury to developing lungs is thought to arise from the combined effects of structural and functional immaturity and is affected by inflammatory mediators such as barotrauma, volutrauma, oxygen toxicity and infection. The complex interplay of these factors leads to a chronic disease state balanced between ongoing tissue development and the scarring and fibrosis resulting from reparative processes (3,26,27). With Northway's historical classification of BPD, which was based on radiographic features and clinical symptomatology, infants developing BPD had a characteristic pattern of apparent resolution of respiratory distress syndrome if they were supported with intensive ventilation and supplemental oxygen (3). These infants then developed clinical pulmonary morbidity with cyanosis and typical cystic changes on chest radiographs (3). Lung histology showed abnormal and hyperactive development of the bronchial and bronchiolar mucosa and of the vascular bed and associated signs of inflammation and edema (28). Many infants died during this phase; survivors gradually improved but continued to have abnormal chest radiographs with patchy areas of increased lucency interspersed with areas of increased density (3).

Advances in antenatal care and postnatal resuscitation and ventilation practices have reduced the incidence of pulmonary sequelae in the larger preterm infant such that these infants no longer follow the pattern described by Northway et al. and have also resulted in improved survival of infants born at earlier gestations (29-31). Today, this pattern of pulmonary morbidity is rare in neonates born after 30 weeks gestation with birth weights above 1200 grams but can occur in infants with lower birth weights and gestational ages (7,31). Very low birth weight infants are in better condition after delivery as a result of antenatal corticosteroid therapy, postnatal surfactant and standardized resuscitation practices; they require less invasive ventilation and lower levels of supplemental oxygen initially, however, the inverse relationship between gestational age and risk of BPD persists, suggesting that lung immaturity is an important factor in pathogenesis, independent of ventilator-induced or oxygen-related injury (29,32,33).

1.4.1 The Role of Lung Development in BPD

Animal and post-mortem data indicate that abnormal or delayed angiogenesis and interruption of alveolar growth and arborization are important factors in the pathogenesis of BPD (29,34,35). Lung development through the second and third trimester involves differentiation of conducting airways into gas-exchanging airways by primary and secondary alveolarization from the pseudoglandular phase through to the alveolar phase (7,36,37) (See Figure 1-1). Growth and development of lung architecture depends on complex interactions between the alveolar epithelium and vascular endothelium for normal branching and development of both the alveolar and supporting capillary bed, and for support of the maturation of type I epithelial cells that form the gas exchange surface in the lungs (36,38). Along with airway development, the pulmonary vascular bed undergoes a parallel process of arborization and expansion (7,38). The complex relationship between angiogenesis and alveolar development depends on many factors including the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor, production of nitric oxide and synthesis of angiopoietin;

10

abnormal signaling and expression of these growth factors has been demonstrated in neonatal chronic lung disease (38).

Functionally, decreased levels of pulmonary surfactant also characterize lung immaturity. Produced in type II pneumocytes, pulmonary surfactant is an amphiphilic phospholipoprotein that stabilizes the alveoli by between alveolar surface minimizing the gradient tension and transpulmonary pressure through the respiratory cycle (39). Surfactant deficiency in the premature infant results in respiratory distress syndrome and contributes to lung injury by allowing cycles of alveolar collapse leading to inflammation (7,36,40). Antenatal corticosteroids have been demonstrated to accelerate lung maturity in the fetus resulting in higher levels of functional endogenous surfactant in the prematurely born infant and reduced need for, but not duration of, post-natal ventilation support, thereby improving survival (41-43). Postnatal administration of exogenous surfactant reduces injury but does not eliminate it altogether (36). A suggested sequence of events resulting in BPD includes the presence of pre- and post-natal factors, such as infection, inflammation and oxidative stress interacting with the vulnerable developing lung and leading to lung injury and subsequent inflammatory response (16,44). This inflammatory response is thought to contribute to scarring of lung tissue and disruption of ongoing alveolar and pulmonary vascular bed development (44).

Delivery in the second trimester results in the birth of infants in early stages of lung development. Infants born at 24 to 25 weeks gestation, during the canalicular/early alveolar stages of lung development, can now survive but will very likely have altered lung development (45). Their lungs will have fewer but larger alveoli with "marked simplification of acinar structure" and abnormal morphology of the capillary vascular bed; however, in contrast to "old BPD", there is less evidence of interstitial or alveolar fibrosis (29,35,36,46). Airway injury during the canalicular stage of development has been associated with prenatal factors, such as chorioamnionitis, and with postnatal trauma from ventilation, oxygen toxicity or inflammation secondary to infection (44,47). In addition, genetic differences in the expression of lung "morphoregulators" may contribute to the susceptibility of certain premature infants to developing BPD as cellular injury progresses to either cell death, apoptosis or subsequent scarring (7,47).





1.4.2 The Role of Antenatal Corticosteroid, Respiratory Distress Syndrome and Surfactant in BPD

Respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) due to surfactant deficiency in the premature infant results in uneven lung aeration with atelectasis and alveolar over-distension contributing to small airway injury and inflammation (47). Produced in type II pneumocytes, surfactant reduces surface tension at the alveolar-capillary interface thereby preventing collapse of the small airways (48). Cuboidal immature pneumocytes first appear in the pseudoglandular phase and differentiate into type I and type II cells as lung development progresses through the canalicular phase (37). Surfactant production in type II pneumocytes is usually detectable after 23-24 weeks gestation, coincident with the development of primitive alveoli and the alveolar capillary barrier such that gas exchange becomes possible (37). However, at this stage gas exchange is less efficient; overall lung surface area is small relative to the size of the infant, the distance between the alveolar interface and supporting blood vessels is high, and surfactant production is suboptimal in both quantity and quality (37). Surfactant deficiency results in small airway collapse, which leads to intrapulmonary shunting and ventilation-perfusion mismatch. In addition to hypoxia, as RDS progresses there is evidence of inflammatory change in the lung parenchyma, which is enhanced by concurrent baro- and volutrauma and by hyperoxia (44). Inflammatory processes, perpetuated by an ongoing cycle of increased oxygen need and ventilator dependence, are postulated to disrupt subsequent vascularization and alveolar septation and, if severe, contribute to scarring and fibrosis ultimately leading to a diagnosis of BPD (44).

Advances in the management of RDS of the premature neonate have decreased the impact of RDS on the development of BPD, but they have not substantially reduced the rate of BPD (26). Without surfactant therapy, adequate functional residual capacity is not established and lung injury occurs (34). Some infants develop a form of necrotizing bronchiolitis with squamous metaplasia of the larger airways and connective tissue proliferation, while others demonstrate arrest of terminal alveolarization with subsequent scarring of the lung parenchyma (34).

Despite more widespread use of antenatal glucocorticoids and exogenous surfactant, some infants require prolonged mechanical ventilation and high inspired oxygen concentrations (26). These treatment strategies help the more extreme preterm infant survive, but they then have a higher risk of developing the "new" BPD (31,49). This form of BPD occurs in a population where premature "initiation of pulmonary gas exchange interrupts normal alveolar development" and subsequent inflammatory changes resulting from mechanical ventilation and premature birth contribute to lung injury (49). In infants dying from severe cases of BPD, autopsy findings confirm milder forms of alveolar septal fibrosis with more uniform lung inflation but decreased numbers of alveoli and less well developed pulmonary microvascular architecture (7).

The NICHD ELGAN study, a review of infants born at 28 weeks or less, described three patterns of early postnatal respiratory function and evaluated how each relates to the development of BPD, as defined by supplemental oxygen need at 36 weeks post-menstrual age (33). Infants were divided into three groups based on supplemental oxygen need during the first weeks of life: low FiO2 Group (persistently low supplemental oxygen need (<0.25) by 14 days of age), pulmonary deterioration group (low oxygen during the first week but increased need by 14 days of age), and early and persistent pulmonary dysfunction group (persistently high oxygen needs) (33). Risk factors were evaluated over three time periods amongst the three groups to identify risk factors that significantly contributed to the development of BPD (33). Sixty nine percent of infants in the early and persistent pulmonary dysfunction group, and 52% of the pulmonary deterioration group developed BPD, but only 17% in the low FiO₂ group (33). In addition to younger gestation at birth, low birth weight and growth restriction contributed to BPD risk for all three groups; however, there were differences between the three groups with respect to the antenatal and neonatal risk factors associated with subsequent BPD (33). In the low FiO_2 group, growth restriction (birth weight z score < -1) and high Score for Neonatal Acute Physiology-II (SNAP-II) scores were associated with later development of BPD, along with later use of analgesics (33). In the pulmonary deterioration group, gestational age < 27 weeks, growth restriction and male gender increased the risk for BPD, along with elevated SNAP-II scores, confirmed neonatal bacteremia and need for mechanical ventilation at 1 week of age (33). Similar risk factors were observed for the early and persistent pulmonary dysfunction group (33).

1.4.3 The Role of Inflammation in BPD

Several factors influence the development of inflammation in the immature lung, including antenatal exposure to inflammatory mediators or infection, postnatal exposure to infection, high concentrations of oxygen, pressure and volume effects of assisted ventilation, and pulmonary fluid overload secondary to patent ductus arteriosus (28,50,51). True clinical chorioamnionitis, defined as maternal symptoms of uterine tenderness, fever, malodorous amniotic fluid and elevated white count, is less common in preterm delivery, occurring in approximately 15 percent of cases, however histologic chorioamnionitis occurs in as many as 33-57% of the placentas of VLBW infants (52-54). In a small cohort of very low birth weight infants who had not received surfactant or antenatal corticosteroid, exposure to histologic chorioamnionitis resulted in higher levels of inflammatory markers in tracheal aspirates and increased BPD risk (55). Subsequent studies are more equivocal, however there is variability in the definitions used for inflammation and for BPD. Local experience has demonstrated a clear link between histologic chorioamnionitis and increased rates of BPD, but this may be mediated by other variables (54,56).

1.5 Modifiable Risk Factors and BPD

Since the initial description of BPD by Northway and colleagues in 1967, changes in the care and management of the premature infant have had a profound impact on the presentation and outcome of neonatal respiratory disorders and subsequently on morbidity and mortality of the premature infant (3,26). It has become increasingly clear that there are significant prenatal, perinatal and postnatal risk factors that collectively influence the developing lungs during fetal and neonatal life (see Table 1-2). A variety of nutritional, medical and mechanical therapies to treat and manage respiratory distress syndrome and resultant pulmonary insufficiency have been evaluated, however no single therapy or combination of therapies have been shown to completely eliminate the disease, particularly in the smallest preterm infants.

Risk factors for BPD can be divided into intrinsic relatively fixed variables, such as gestational age at birth and birth weight, or extrinsic, potentially modifiable risk factors including infection exposure and hemodynamic instability resulting from patent ductus arteriosus; however there is overlap between these categories (see Table 1-2). Risk factors can also be classified by the timing of occurrence as antenatal, perinatal or post-natal and include factors such as presence of maternal illnesses such as chorioamnionitis, group B *Streptococcus* colonization and gestational hypertension, and neonatal factors such as need for surfactant therapy, pneumothorax, patent ductus arteriosus, pulmonary hemorrhage and infections or necrotizing enterocolitis (49,57-60). Maternal care strategies that may moderate the development of BPD include the use of antenatal corticosteroids to minimize RDS, intrapartum antibiotics to treat or prevent neonatal infection, and careful management of maternal illnesses such as gestational hypertension and gestational diabetes (47). Neonatal therapeutic strategies that may alter the course of BPD include targeted oxygen saturation and permissive hypercapnia, gentle ventilation with optimal peak inspiratory and end-expiratory pressure (PIP/PEEP) targets, minimal total duration of invasive pressure ventilation, fluid resuscitation and nutritional status, including overall caloric intake and total duration of parenteral nutrition (47,49,57-59). It is commonly thought that many of these risk factors or determinants contribute to or modify an overall inflammatory state, resulting in a process of lung injury and repair that eventually culminates in either recovery of the lung parenchyma or delayed and abnormal lung alveolarization (61).

Table 1-2. Risk Factor Classification for BPD

(based on: (16,60,62))

	Intrinsic	Modifiable
	multiple pregnancy	maternal infection
Antenatal	gender	chorioamnionitis
	maternal age	group B Streptococcus status
	gestation hypertension	
	gestational diabetes	
	gestational age	ventilation strategies at
Perinatal	birth weight	delivery
	duration of rupture of	oxygen targets
	membranes	peak pressures
	pulmonary hypoplasia chorioamnionitis	end-expiratory pressures
		respiratory distress syndrome
	group B <i>Streptococcus</i> status birth order in multiple	Synaronic
	pregnancy	
	mode of delivery	
	Apgar score	
	PDA	ventilation strategies
Postnatal	pulmonary hemorrhage	oxygen targets
	infection/inflammation	PaCO ₂ targets
	sepsis/meningitis	mode/duration
	necrotizing enterocolitis	non-invasive ventilation
		hypotension
		fluid balance
		nutritional status
		NIDCAP care

Chorioamnionitis has an important role in the etiology of premature birth, affecting over half of infants born prematurely (63). When used in the clinical setting, chorioamnionitis is a subjective diagnosis based on nonspecific signs and symptoms of maternal inflammation, such as maternal fever and leukocytosis, foul smelling amniotic fluid and uterine tenderness (53). Often, cases identified as clinical chorioamnionitis are found not to have evidence of intrauterine inflammation (64). However, large studies have shown an association of clinical chorioamnionitis with increased rates of early onset sepsis in premature infants (53). Histologic changes attributed to chorioamnionitis include the presence of polymorphonuclear cellular infiltrate and is graded by location and depth of infiltration and by severity (63). Histologic chorioamnionitis has an important role in the etiology of premature birth, associated with over half of infants born prematurely (63). In addition to lower gestational age and weight at birth, infants with exposure to histologic chorioamnionitis are more likely to develop early onset sepsis, severe retinopathy of prematurity and BPD (54).

Antenatal corticosteroids have been shown to decrease the rates of respiratory distress syndrome, intraventricular hemorrhage and mortality in preterm neonates, but not bronchopulmonary dysplasia (43). Randomized controlled trials have not demonstrated any advantage of single versus multiple courses of antenatal corticosteroid in reducing the incidence of BPD, although there may be some benefit in infants born < 32 weeks gestation (65-68). Many proposed therapies have been evaluated in randomized controlled trials to modify the development of BPD, but only a few have demonstrated apparent benefit: prophylactic surfactant followed by early extubation, early institution of caffeine therapy, post-natal corticosteroid therapy, use of volume-targeted ventilation, and shorter duration of invasive mechanical ventilation (21,69-73).

Surfactant prophylaxis and treatment have been extensively reviewed in the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews for managing respiratory distress syndrome and preventing BPD (72-80). Natural surfactant preparations have been proven to be safer than synthetic surfactant preparations with respect to risks for pneumothorax, but have not been shown to be more effective in reducing BPD, and may result in marginal increases in the risk of intraventricular haemorrhage (78). Regardless of preparation, prophylactic surfactant therapy with early extubation in comparison to delayed, selective therapy decreases the rates of BPD (72,73). Geary et al. evaluated two cohorts of extremely low birth weight infants (< 1000 grams) born in two periods (2001-2002 vs 2004-2005) to evaluate the impact of three early management changes, including early administration of prophylactic surfactant with immediate extubation to nasal continuous positive airway pressure, early institution of parenteral amino acid therapy and lower targets for oxygenation (70). These practice changes resulted in a significant reduction in the combined outcome of moderate and severe BPD, from 43% to 24% in the population studied (70).

Caffeine therapy has recently been shown to improve the rates of BPD if given in the first 10 days of post-natal life, possibly because it acts as a mild diuretic and decreases the total duration of invasive ventilatory support (21,81). In the Caffeine for Apnea of Prematurity study, placebo treated infants required an additional week of invasive ventilation as compared with infants treated with caffeine, and subsequently had rates of BPD of 48% versus 36%, respectively with an adjusted odds ratio of 0.63 [95% CI: 0.52 to 0.76] (21,69). In addition, caffeine significantly decreased the rate of neurodevelopmental disability in infants surviving to a corrected age of 18 to 21 months, odds ratio 0.77 [95% CI: 0.65 to 0.93] (69).

An umbrella review of the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews identified over 36 systematic reviews evaluating various medical therapies to BPD. treat Medical therapies evaluated include prevent or anti-inflammatories (super-oxide dismutase, α -1 proteinase inhibitor, inhaled and systemic corticosteroids), anti-infective agents (erythromycin, IVIG), bronchodilators, diuretics (loop diuretics and distal-tubule active agents), nutritional supplements (vitamins A and E) in addition to supplemental surfactant therapy (synthetic and natural preparations) (72-80,82-98). Of these, only post-natal steroids have been shown to have benefit in terms of reducing the rates of BPD but at a significant potential neurodevelopmental cost (85,92,95). In a meta-analysis of 21 studies evaluating the impact of post-natal corticosteroid therapy on mortality and risk for cerebral palsy, Doyle et al. demonstrated that rates of cerebral palsy
are elevated after therapy with post-natal corticosteroids (99). This risk is somewhat dependent on the underlying risk of developing BPD; infants at lower risk of oxygen dependence at 36 weeks corrected gestation were much more likely to die or develop cerebral palsy if they were exposed to post-natal corticosteroids than infants at higher risk of developing BPD (99). The use of inhaled nitric oxide has been shown to have a marginal effect on the rate of BPD or death in one meta-analysis, with a trend toward an effect on BPD, however variability in study design limits conclusions drawn overall (100,101). Optimal nutrition strategies should promote growth and development as well as facilitate healing, however there is no single dietary strategy that has been shown to reduce the incidence of BPD (102). In this study data regarding fluid management and nutrition support was not examined.

Ventilation strategies that use pressure or volume targets have been developed with the goal of reducing baro- and volutrauma which could then potentially decrease the rate of BPD (70,71,103,104). There are many conventional ventilation strategies available for use in the premature infant, including pressure limited strategies, such as assist control, synchronized intermittent mandatory ventilation, pressure support, proportional assist ventilation or volume-targeted ventilation, however none have been rigorously evaluated in the reduction of BPD (47,105). Volume-targeted ventilation strategies have been shown to have some benefit in the reduction of BPD however the effect on long-term neurodevelopmental outcome is unknown (106). Volume Guarantee mode on the Draeger Babylog 8000+ ventilator uses a hot wire anemometer at the airway opening to detect the exhaled tidal volume to minimize variability in delivered breaths and functions to optimize the pressures needed to delivery an appropriate tidal breath for the infant with variability responsive to the infant's changing needs (71,106). Volume-targeted ventilation has been shown in a meta-analysis of 4 randomized controlled trials to decrease the total duration of ventilation, a known risk factor for BPD, resulting in a borderline significant reduction in the risk of BPD (71).

High frequency, oscillatory and jet ventilation use high ventilator rates to achieve ventilation and oxygenation. These modalities rely on complicated pressure and flow dynamics to improve aeration in heterogeneous lung disease. Systematic review of 15 randomized controlled trials on the use of elective high frequency oscillatory ventilation demonstrated decreased rates of BPD in subgroup analysis if high-volume strategies, piston oscillators and inspiratory:expiratory times of 1:2 were used (103). Unfortunately this strategy has been associated with increased risk of pneumothorax and severe intraventricular hemorrhage or periventricular leukomalacia (103,104). Elective use of high frequency jet ventilation has been evaluated in a similar fashion, and has also been shown to decrease the rates of BPD, but has also been associated with a trend toward increased risk of periventricular leukomalacia (104). There may be some benefit with selective use of high frequency jet ventilation, however availability and comfort level with this modality precludes widespread use (104,107).

Recent trials have focused on targeted intubation and minimizing the duration of mechanical ventilation, using strategies such as INSURE (Intubation SURfactant Extubation) followed by NCPAP either immediately after surfactant therapy or with resolution of the symptoms of RDS (47,108). Not surprisingly, duration of mechanical ventilation has been shown to be inversely proportional to survival rates and is associated with increasing rates of deafness, blindness and cerebral palsy and decreasing Mental and Psychomotor Developmental indices on the Bayley Scales of Infant Development II (109). There is some suggestion that avoidance of intubation may be preferable with only rescue intubation and surfactant for those with intractable oxygen needs however in those infants at highest risk for RDS, intubation with administration of prophylactic surfactant is still considered best practice with careful consideration for the need for ongoing ventilation support (73,110,111). Other strategies using minimally invasive approaches to surfactant administration have been attempted, including the use of nebulized surfactant, however with minimal success (110,112,113). Current ventilation strategies to minimize lung damage employ permissive hypercapnia, combined with lower oxygen saturation targets to limit baroand volutrauma along with earlier extubation and less invasive ventilation modalities to promote and maintain functional residual capacity (110). Permissive hypercapnia has been evaluated as a way to reduce or prevent injury resulting from pulmonary over-distension; however, there have been no randomized control trials of sufficient power to demonstrate a statistically significant benefit and reported studies have used different targets (47).

1.6 Non-Invasive Ventilation and BPD

Many infants will need immediate mechanical ventilatory support through an endotracheal tube. This is required for both administration of artificial surfactant in the treatment of RDS so as to provide alveolar stability and also to overcome the work of breathing placed on the fragile newborn thorax (114). Despite advances in technology, endotracheal intubation and mechanical ventilation continue to be associated with progressive lung injury and the development of BPD in the premature infant, largely due to inflammation resulting from baro- and volutrauma, lung injury resulting from recurrent atelectasis, and oxygen toxicity (114,115).

Gentler ventilation strategies, including initiation of non-invasive ventilation to establish FRC at resuscitation, limiting duration of mechanical ventilation, and using non-invasive ventilation to promote extubation success are now recognized as important ways to minimize damage to the fragile developing lung of the premature infant (47,62,114,116). These non-invasive or minimally invasive ventilation strategies provide oxygen and end-expiratory pressure to facilitate the infant's own ability to establish and maintain functional residual capacity and prevent alveolar collapse (114).

In a recent meta-analysis of four randomized controlled trials evaluating the use of nasal CPAP from birth, the authors found a statistically significant reduction in the relative risk of BPD and/or death in the nasal CPAP group (62). In this meta-analysis, 2780 infants born between 24 and 29 weeks gestation were randomized to intubation or nasal CPAP at birth (62). Infants randomized to the nasal CPAP group were less likely to require any mechanical ventilation and were less likely to need any surfactant treatment (62). The authors found a borderline significant reduction in the incidence of bronchopulmonary dysplasia in the nasal CPAP group compared to the intubation group (RR 0.91; 96% CI: 0.82 to 1.01) (62).

When the extremely premature infant requires invasive ventilation support, three potential strategies may be used. The first and most invasive strategy involves the placement of an endotracheal tube for administration of surfactant where required, and for ongoing mechanical ventilation. The second strategy, described as INSURE [Intubation, SURfactant, Extubation] includes endotracheal tube placement for surfactant treatment and, in some circumstances, a brief period of mechanical ventilation support but for shorter duration with the expectation for early extubation to either a non-invasive support mode or directly to low flow nasal cannula or room air (117-119). The least invasive approach entails the use of non-invasive ventilation support with intubation reserved for rescue surfactant administration only as with INSURE but on a more selective basis or with alternative minimally invasive means of delivering surfactant to the lungs (112,113,120-126). It is well known that the development of RDS and subsequent need for intubation are independent risk factors for the development of BPD, however the total duration of intubation has also been directly and indirectly implicated as a risk factor for more severe disease and with long term neurodevelopmental disability (109,127-131).

There are multiple modalities to provide non-invasive ventilation strategies. These include both nasal and nasopharyngeal support systems as well as various pressure and flow devices. This has made systematic evaluation difficult. Neonatal respiratory care at the Royal Alexandra Hospital NICU uses nasal continuous positive airway pressure (NCPAP) and unsynchronized nasal intermittent positive pressure (NIPPV) modalities after extubation with the goal of reducing reintubation rates secondary to apnea of prematurity or respiratory failure. In practice, unsynchronized NIPPV is used either as a step-down from invasive ventilation, in order to promote extubation success, or as a step-up from single level NCPAP to avoid or minimize the need for invasive ventilation. The purpose of these strategies is to reduce the overall duration of intubation and thus rates of BPD. To achieve this, supplemental oxygen and ventilatory pressures must be titrated carefully so as to decrease the contribution of hyperoxia and barotrauma to lung injury while allowing the infant to breathe independently. Unfortunately, there are few data comparing these modalities in clinical practice.

1.6.1 Nasal Continuous Positive Airway Pressure

In treatment of RDS in the early 1970's, endotracheal continuous positive airway pressure was used in an attempt to minimize trauma associated with mechanical ventilation (132). Since then, various methods of delivering positive pressure have been developed, including non-invasive approaches, such as nasal mask or prongs, that are equally effective in establishing alveolar aeration and minimizing atelectasis (116). Different interfaces and pressure generating devices have been developed and systematically evaluated in the management of RDS, apnea of prematurity, and prevention of extubation failure and many studies have reported possible reduction in the rates of BPD as a secondary benefit (111,133-136).

1.6.2 Non-invasive Intermittent Positive Pressure

VLBW infants are at higher risk of extubation failure due to central hypoventilation, residual airway disease and upper airway instability, which all contribute to atelectasis and ventilation failure (137,138). Using intermittent high pressure above a baseline pressure has been demonstrated to improve functional residual capacity by improving stability of the airway and increasing airflow transmitted to the lungs with enhanced alveolar recruitment (115,138,139). The use of bi-level positive airway pressure by non-invasive means is widely used in clinical practice to augment traditional nasal CPAP (116,140). Early modalities of noninvasive intermittent ventilation were poorly standardized, technically difficult and associated with significant non-pulmonary clinical complications (140,141). With advances in technology that allow for a gentler approach, interest in noninvasive intermittent ventilation methods has regained popularity in neonatal intensive care. Intermittent noninvasive ventilation is hypothesized

to reduce the need for intubation or reintubation by improving functional residual capacity and minute ventilation and thereby improving gas exchange and also reducing the overall work of breathing (140). The goal of non-invasive ventilatory support is to minimize the adverse consequences of prolonged invasive mechanical ventilation that contribute to BPD, including baro- and volutrauma, oxygen toxicity and nosocomial infections (139). Different patterns and frequencies of pressure cycles may be used, which may or may not be synchronized with spontaneous breaths, complicating systematic evaluation of its effectiveness in different clinical settings (116,142). With this method, different settings can also be applied for PIP, PEEP, inspiratory time and rate, however ideal settings have not been rigorously evaluated and most trials published to date have evaluated synchronized NIPPV (116).

1.6.3 Synchronized Non-invasive Intermittent Positive Pressure

Early studies of non-invasive IPPV were designed to allow an extension of synchronized intermittent mandatory ventilation settings using a non-invasive interface and as a result synchronization with the infant's spontaneous respiratory efforts was by default (115,139). However, detailed analysis of pulmonary mechanics demonstrated improvements in tidal volume and minute ventilation with synchronous ventilator breaths compared to asynchrononous breaths (139). Synchronized nasal intermittent positive pressure ventilation has been used to facilitate successful extubation and as a result has contributed to decreased rates of BPD in comparison with extubation to nasal continuous positive airway pressure (143,144). Meta-analyses have not shown a clear benefit of synchronized NIPPV over NCPAP in the reduction of BPD though there is a trend favoring NIPPV (134,145). Unfortunately, synchronized non-invasive positive pressure ventilation requires the use of specialized equipment in order to coordinate pressure increases with the infant's spontaneous breathing efforts. Synchronized non-invasive intermittent positive pressure is not currently used in this centre.

1.6.4 Unsynchronized Non-invasive Intermittent Positive Pressure

Unsynchronized non-invasive IPPV provides two levels of positive airway pressure support that is not coordinated with the infants' intrinsic respirations, allowing the patient to breathe spontaneously at both levels (146). Currently this centre uses unsynchronized bi-level non-invasive intermittent positive pressure administered through nasal prongs or nasal mask to prevent extubation failure or to defer the need for intubation. There are no meta-analyses of studies evaluating unsynchronized NIPPV published to date as primary studies are difficult to interpret due to the small number of studies, variability in type of interface, pressure and flow devices used, pressure settings, rate and pattern of pressure cycling and underlying study population variability. Initial strategies involved using nasal mask or prongs to deliver ventilator breaths from the same equipment used with endotracheal intubation and were unsynchronized due to inability to detect spontaneous respiratory effort (147,148). An early observational study of 10 premature infants requiring NCPAP for prematurity or severe RDS demonstrated some success using unsynchronized IPPV to avoid intubation (147). Other reports of unsynchronized non-invasive IPPV using nasopharyngeal prongs have demonstrated some benefit in prevention of extubation failure compared with NCPAP (142,149,150). The rate of BPD was not an outcome studied, however the authors of the most recent study noted a trend toward shorter duration of hospitalization in the NIPPV group (142).

A single observational study evaluated the use of unsynchronized non-invasive IPPV on the long-term outcome of BPD (149). This study evaluated the implementation of unsynchronized nasopharyngeal IPPV (NPIPPV) to prevent extubation failure as part of the Vermont Oxford Network Collaborative for quality improvement (149). In the initial phase, infants were started on NPIPPV if they met criteria for reintubation from apnea/bradycardia, NCPAP, which included worsening increasing desaturations or progressive hypercapnea (149). In the final phase of the project, retrospective chart comparisons in the pre- and post-study periods demonstrated decreases in the duration of intubation and frequency of discharge home on supplemental oxygen (149). The authors concluded that introduction of non-invasive ventilation improved overall success of extubation and reduced indicators of BPD (149). These conclusions are limited by the observational nature of the study and by the small sample size, however they provide some promising evidence that this ventilation strategy may be useful in the reduction of BPD.

evidence published to date regarding unsynchronized The non-invasive IPPV is limited and plagued by methodological limitations; however this modality offers a simple, potentially effective way to reduce extubation failure and overall duration of invasive mechanical ventilation. Despite this lack of evidence, some neonatal units, including this local neonatal program use unsynchronized non-invasive IPPV as a "step up" from straight NCPAP for infants with refractory apnea, progressive hypoxemia or hypercapnea in an attempt to prevent extubation failure, often because of lack of availability of ventilators with options for synchronization (146,150). A recently published clinical trial evaluated the use of NIPPV compared with NCPAP as either initial ventilation support to prevent intubation or support for extubated infants with the primary outcome of survival without BPD (151). In this multi-centre trial, individual centres were allowed to use synchronization as per their usual centre care practices with an a priori plan for subgroup analysis of infants treated with synchronized NIPPV compared to unsynchronized NIPPV (151). There was no significant difference between groups for the primary outcome survival without BPD between the NCPAP and NIPPV groups (151).

1.7 Summary

The original definition of bronchopulmonary dysplasia as defined by Northway nearly five decades ago has shifted from persistent oxygen need and characteristic radiographic and clinical findings at 28 days of life to the more commonly accepted classification as mild, moderate or severe based on supplemental oxygen need at both 28 days of life and 36 weeks corrected gestational age (3,7). In the late 1980s it was recognized that ongoing pulmonary dysfunction at 36 weeks corrected gestational age was more predictive of persistent abnormalities beyond the neonatal period and into early childhood than need for supplemental oxygen at 28 days (5).

There are many intrinsic and modifiable risk factors contributing to the pathophysiology of bronchopulmonary dysplasia however the common denominator appears to be the combination of immature, underdeveloped lungs and inflammatory processes resulting in preterm labor or arising in the neonatal period. Early prognostication of infants at high risk for BPD will enable individualized approaches to neonatal care.

Prediction Models and Pulmonary Outcomes in Premature Infants

2.1 Prediction Models for BPD

Bronchopulmonary dysplasia has been viewed as a consequence of immature lungs, inflammation resulting from both prenatal and immediate postnatal factors including respiratory distress, and a complication of mechanical ventilation. Early prediction of chronic oxygen dependency allows targeted therapy for clinical trials to evaluate which populations are at highest risk and to determine which subgroups of infants are most likely to benefit. Additionally, scoring tools can be used to classify infants who are in the most severe category in whom the risk of using controversial or potentially hazardous therapies, such as systemic corticosteroids, may be justified.

A number of scoring systems using clinical data have been developed to predict and classify BPD early in order to target treatments for those infants at highest risk and to allow comparison of outcomes between centres (152-157). These scoring systems are often complex and multifactorial or based on logistic regression analysis of various risk factors and determinants of BPD and are difficult to apply easily in the clinical setting. For example, the scoring system of Palta et al requires interpretation of chest radiographs, peak inspiratory pressures, respiratory rate, plus partial pressures of oxygen and carbon dioxide in the vascular system (152,153). Other scoring systems, also based on logistic regression analysis, have found that a large number of potential risk factors contribute to the development of BPD. These use complex equations or systems for risk prediction (154-160). Some prediction tools using pulmonary function testing show that premature infants often have early abnormalities such as elevated airway resistance and decreased lung compliance with low lung volumes, which have been associated with later development of BPD (161). The use of these measures is imprecise as it is unclear which measure performs best and which age at measurement provides the most prognostic value, given the dramatic changes in lung compliance and resistance over the first days to weeks of life.

Sinkin's SCORE which is applied at 12 hours and 10 days of age, was developed to predict the need for oxygen at 28 days, thus including infants categorized as having mild BPD (158). This SCORE included ventilation parameters (peak inspiratory pressure and main airway pressure), 5 minute Apgar, gestational age, and birth weight (158). Interestingly, though prospective testing was done on patients who were eligible to receive surfactant therapy, which should have improved outcome, the SCORE underestimated adverse outcomes (158). Like Sinkin's prediction tool, that of Corcoran was also used to predict oxygen need at 28 days with the additional criteria of radiographic changes consistent with BPD as defined by Northway (162).

A respiratory failure score (RFS) was created in an attempt to provide a simpler tool with which to predict the development of BPD (160). This score included factors such as gestation, birth weight, fraction of inspired oxygen, ventilator rate, peak inspiratory pressures, and mean airway pressures (160). In comparison with the Sinkin SCORE applied at 12 hours of age and the Ryan score applied at 72 hours of age, the RFS at 72 hours of age demonstrated the largest area under the curve for receiver operating characteristic curves (158-160). Though this model is somewhat simpler than previous models, it is unclear as to which cutoff values are most appropriate for use in differentiating infants at highest risk and it remains somewhat cumbersome in the determination of the various factors included in the model. Other models have included ventilation parameters however these methods are prone to difficulty in interpretation given the various ventilation strategies in use, varied methods of measuring airflow and pressure within each system, and by known changes in management strategies over time (156,161). In general these models have high specificity and sensitivity as is evident in that the area under the curve on receiver operating characteristic curves were generally high (0.76 to 0.94)(154, 156, 159).

The Pulmonary Severity score of Madan et al. was developed to quantify BPD severity in infants enrolled in the Supplemental Therapeutic Oxygen for Prethreshold Retinopathy of Prematurity (STOP-ROP) trial (163). It was observed that supplemental oxygen resulted in higher rates of BPD and thus the scoring system was developed to allow comparison of the study groups at randomization and to predict pulmonary outcome at three months follow-up (163). Elements in the pulmonary severity score included medication use (systemic steroids, methylxanthines or diuretics), level of inhaled oxygen and level of ventilation (163). In the calculation of the score, the fraction of inhaled oxygen is multiplied by the ventilation support, scored as 2.5 for invasive mechanical ventilation, 1.5 for nasal CPAP and 1.0 for low flow nasal cannula or room air (163). This value is then added to a medication score, the sum of: 0.2 for systemic steroids given for treatment of BPD, 0.1 each for regular diuretics or inhaled steroids and 0.05 each for methylxanthines or intermittent diuretics (163). Scores ranged from 0.21 where no supplemental oxygen, no medications and no ventilation support was required, to 2.95 for a fully ventilated baby requiring all three classes of medication and 100% supplemental oxygen (163). The median value of the pulmonary score was higher for those who subsequently developed pulmonary morbidity than for those who did not (p < 0.0001, Kruskal-Wallis test) (163). The Pulmonary Score was then evaluated using the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve and the Akaike Information Criterion method, which measures the quality of a statistical model for a given set of data (163). After controlling for other covariates, regression modelling demonstrated that for every increase of 1 unit in the Pulmonary Score, the odds of subsequent pulmonary morbidity increased by a factor of 7 (163). The utility of this scoring system above that of the current definition of BPD by NICHD criteria is that it provides a continuous quantitative estimate of BPD severity, rather than a categorical definition, but remains simple to calculate and interpret (163). The Pulmonary Score has not been validated in any other populations of premature infants, nor has the score been extrapolated to older age groups.

More recently, May et al. modified the Pulmonary Score of Madan by excluding the need for medications in the model and applying the score earlier in the neonatal course at 2 and 7 days of age to predict chronic oxygen dependency at 28 days or 36 weeks corrected gestational age among very low birth weight infants less than 33 weeks gestational age at birth (164). The tool was developed to identify those infants at highest risk who might benefit from treatments such as systemic corticosteroids (164). The scoring system of May et al. demonstrated highest area under receiver operator characteristic curve for predicting oxygen dependency at 28 days and 36 weeks corrected gestational age when applied at 7 days chronologic age (164). Sensitivity and specificity for the score on day 7 are presented in table 2-1. This Chronic Oxygen Dependency (COD) score has not been validated in other populations, nor has it been used to predict pulmonary morbidity in early infancy.

Table 2-1. Sensitivities and Specificities of the COD Score Applied at 7 Days of Age

(Modified from: (164))

COD Score at 7 days of age	Prediction of COD at 28 days chronologic age		Prediction of COD at 36 weeks corrected gestational age	
	Specificity (%)	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	Sensitivity (%)
≥ 0.323	95	78	80	73
≥ 0.42	97	72	85	73
≥ 0.65	100	53	90	55

The scoring system of May et al (2007) has similar areas under the curves for receiver operating characteristics and has equal face validity to many of these scoring tools but it has the big advantage of simplicity (154-160,164). Madan's scoring system is equally simple to apply, and unlike the majority of other tools, has been shown to have clinical and research value in the prediction of longer-term pulmonary outcomes (163). The clinical utility of these scoring systems by Madan and May are that they are simple to use, and can be calculated early in the neonatal course: at 2 and 7 days of age for the COD score by May and at 35.7 weeks corrected gestational age for the Pulmonary Score by Madan (163,164). The COD score allows for prediction of oxygen dependency at both 28 days of age and 36 weeks corrected gestational age (164). A goal of this study is to evaluate whether the COD score (which is a modification of the Pulmonary Score by Madan) or the Pulmonary score will prove useful in predicting longer term pulmonary morbidity at three and six months corrected age in infants born <29 weeks gestation or <1250 grams birth weight.

2.2 Pulmonary Morbidity in Early Childhood

2.2.1 Impact of BPD on Pulmonary Morbidity

In the pre-surfactant era, a cohort study of 605 survivors born <1500 grams birth weight demonstrated that 20% of infant experienced abnormal pulmonary symptoms or death during a two year follow up period (5). Those with pulmonary abnormalities on follow-up were more likely to be male

gender, have lower birth weights and gestational ages, have RDS, and longer duration of ventilation and oxygen therapy (5). The authors observed that the infants who had normal pulmonary outcomes were able to wean off oxygen by 30 to 33 weeks corrected age (5). Oxygen requirement persisting to 34 to 36 weeks corrected age was the turning point at which the probability of having pulmonary morbidity in the first two years of life crossed 50%. As such, the authors concluded that the use of oxygen at 36 weeks gestation was a better predictor of pulmonary morbidity than oxygen use at 28 days in infants born \leq 32 weeks gestation (5).

Today, BPD continues to have a significant impact on mortality rates and long term morbidity affecting long term growth, lung health and neurodevelopment, particularly for extremely low birth weight neonates requiring prolonged ventilation (7,49,109). In contrast with classical BPD as described by Northway, infants with BPD in the current era of neonatal intensive care experience an acute injury to immature lungs resulting in arrested alveolar and vascular development (49). What follows is a period of recovery of alveolarization and vascular development, which is negatively influenced by dynamic inflammatory processes from necessary supportive therapy during and after neonatal intensive care (49). Though lung development continues beyond the newborn period it is possible that lung tissue development does not achieve normal levels. It has been postulated that this process is inversely related to gestational age at birth, such that in the youngest infants, the acute injury occurs at an earlier stage and the ongoing cycle of injury and repair occurs for longer, which results in more severe long term damage (49).

Lung injury may continue beyond the NICU. These infants are prone to a vicious cycle of increased vulnerability to and risk for additional lung injury resulting from subsequent respiratory infection. Infants with BPD have higher rates of community resource use related to lung health, hospital readmission, abnormalities on pulmonary function testing, increased susceptibility to respiratory infections and airway hyper reactivity, particularly if they were discharged from the NICU with home oxygen therapy (165-167).

Overall estimates of rehospitalization during infancy and early childhood ranged from 22 to 70%, particularly for respiratory illnesses (167-171). In the era before widespread use of antenatal corticosteroids and RSV prophylaxis, up to 67% of rehospitalizations in the first year of life for infants who were ventilator dependent at 21 days of age were attributable to cardiac or respiratory causes (167). In general 11.3% of infants born prior to 37 weeks gestation are at risk for pulmonary morbidity and frequent rehospitalization; BPD elevates that risk up to 49% (165,172). In a cohort of 1597 infants born <33 weeks gestation, 49% of those with BPD required rehospitalization during the first year of life as compared with 23% of preterm infants without BPD (165). The primary diagnosis was classified as respiratory in 36% and 34% of these two groups respectively (165). Factors associated with rehospitalization for respiratory illness in the BPD cohort

included predisposition to atopy, exposure to cigarette smoke, and poor air quality (165). More recent Canadian data similarly demonstrated that respiratory illnesses, such as airway infection, breathing problems and BPD-related morbidities account for a higher proportion of hospital re-admission in infants born <29 weeks gestation (171).

Bronchiolitis remains a leading cause of hospital admission for infants and children with pulmonary morbidity. In particular, Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) has historically accounted for 20% of hospitalizations in infants with a history of premature birth and BPD (173). In the PREVENT trial, RSV prophylaxis with intravenous RSV immunoglobulin resulted in a 41% reduction in RSV hospitalization and 53% reduction in duration of stay related to RSV bronchiolitis in children with a history of premature birth and BPD. There was no difference in the duration of intensive care unit admission or mechanical ventilation (173). The IMpact-RSV randomized controlled trial demonstrated a similar reduction in hospitalization in infants with a history of BPD treated with prophylaxis (174,175). Widespread use of RSV prophylaxis will prevent some but not all hospitalizations in infants with a history of BPD.

Data from the NICHD have demonstrated that BPD was independently associated with increased specialized outpatient service use (OR 2.22; 95% CI: 1.56 – 2.98). This association was higher than with other significant risk factors such as sepsis, gestational age, or birth weight (176). BPD was also independently related to increased need for pharmacy services in a cohort of infants in the Infant Functional Status Study (177). These children required more antibiotic (29%) and respiratory (49%) prescriptions (177). Follow-up data from the Irish/UK EPICure study demonstrated that up to 84% of extremely preterm infants required ongoing oxygen, medication or therapy for lung related issues (178). On subgroup analysis those with a history of BPD were significantly more likely to require these treatments (178). By 5-6 years of age the relative difference between the children with and without BPD had lessened, however those with BPD continued to have a higher likelihood of wheeze in the past year and greater use of inhaled bronchodilators and steroids (178).

A study of Canadian infants demonstrated that about 30% of infants born <29 weeks gestation required regular prescription medication; of those infants, 25% were for respiratory medications such as inhaled corticosteroid or bronchodilators (171). The odds of needing outpatient services were increased in those who had BPD (OR 1.85, 95% confidence interval 1.08 – 3.14) (171). A longer cohort study demonstrated that the need for increased medical services persisted through to late adolescence and young adulthood. Individuals with a history of BPD had higher rates of outpatient visits, increased rates of asthma, episodes of acute respiratory illness, and respiratory infection (179). The same study demonstrated that individuals with history of BPD required almost twice as many prescriptions per person-year compared with those who had history of RDS only. Overall costs for medication use, medical consultations and hospitalization was significantly higher (179).

Airway reactivity in prematurely born infants with a history of BPD appears to have different physiologic characteristics than airway reactivity seen with asthma, although on pulmonary function testing, flow limitations are similar, and children tend to be treated similarly with bronchodilators and inhaled corticosteroids (180-182). Airway reactivity in school-aged children with a BPD history has been demonstrated to have variable responsiveness to bronchodilators, unlike children with airway reactivity secondary to asthma (180). Exhaled nitric oxide has been used as a marker of inflammation and eosinophil activation in reactive airways disease as it is known to regulate airway and vessel tone (180). Comparison of spirometry and exhaled nitric oxide (Fe_{NO}) in healthy term born children, children with asthma who were matched for airflow limitation, children with a history of prematurity but no BPD, and children born prematurely with BPD (defined as persistent oxygen need at 28 days) demonstrated that the BPD group had the lowest values of Fe_{N0} (180). It is unclear whether this is a reflection of decreased capacity to generate or release nitric oxide or whether it is related to dysfunctional growth of the pulmonary vascular bed related to BPD (180).

In a Norwegian study of two preterm birth cohorts who were assessed for airway reactivity in comparison to controls with and without asthma, researchers found that those with moderate to severe BPD were more likely to have symptoms of wheeze or diagnosis of asthma at 10 and 17 years

(181). When ex-premature children with asthma symptoms were compared to ex-preterms without symptoms there were no differences in markers of allergy whereas when controls with asthma were compared to controls without, there were significant differences in the same markers (181). The authors demonstrated that family history of atopy, exposure to cigarette smoke and elevated markers of airway inflammation were associated with asthma symptoms in term children but not prematurely born children who had airway reactivity; however, small sample size may have limited this conclusion (181). In prematurely born children. history of bronchopulmonary dysplasia and prolonged treatment with oxygen during the neonatal period was more relevant to current symptoms of wheeze (181).

Assessment of lung health using pulmonary function testing in ex-premature infants and children reveal persistent abnormalities that may contribute to clinical morbidity such as repeated hospital readmission with respiratory illness and chronic reactive or obstructive airway diseases. At preschool age, forced oscillation technique (FOT) demonstrated that children with a history of BPD have signs of decreased lung compliance and higher resistance on FOT (183). The children with BPD in this study also reported higher rates of hospitalization with bronchiolitis related to Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) compared to controls (183). Pulmonary function testing reveals differences in observed versus predicted expiratory volume at 1 second (FEV₁) and forced vital capacity (FVC) in up to 46% of infants born with very low birth weight (< 1500 grams) with statistically significant differences between those with BPD compared to those without BPD (184). There is evidence of impairment in lung function, ranging from mild to moderate airway obstruction, to air trapping and airway restriction (47).

Follow-up assessment of lung function in later childhood in the two cohorts of Norwegian children previously described in the study of airway reactivity demonstrated reduction in all lung function parameters except total lung capacity, particularly if they were diagnosed with moderate to severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia and required prolonged oxygen therapy (mean 85 days, range 55 to 257 days) (185). In the later cohort born 1991 to 1992 survival at lower gestational ages resulted in relatively longer exposure to oxygen; unfortunately the use of exogenous surfactant did not improve long term outcome (185).

Assessing pulmonary function testing using a raised-volume rapid thoracoabdominal compression technique and whole body plethysmograph in a cohort of early preschool age ex-premature children demonstrated that BPD was correlated with decreased forced expiratory flows but increased functional residual capacity and residual volume (186). Children with more severe obstructive changes were more likely to demonstrate bronchodilator responsiveness and have a history of recurrent wheeze treated with inhaled corticosteroid (186).

Chest computed tomography of one- to two-year old ex-premature infants with "new" BPD demonstrated hyperlucent areas and linear and sub pleural opacities that correlate with low functional residual capacity with an obstructive pattern on pulmonary function testing (187). These abnormalities, specifically triangular subpleural opacities and linear opacities, were most strongly related to oxygen exposure during the neonatal period (187). Australian data demonstrated that about 84% of adult survivors of BPD with follow up data in early adulthood had changes consistent with emphysema on chest CT, primarily centrilobar type, and abnormalities on pulmonary function testing including emphysema and airflow limitation although clinical symptomatology was not as yet prominent (188). Evaluation of adult data is difficult in the current context given the large time lag in obtaining results of follow-up data. It is reasonable to infer that changes in practice management may influence long-term outcomes over time.

In summary, while many premature infants recover from the symptoms of BPD, there is evidence of continued respiratory morbidity in early childhood, such as bronchial hyper reactivity and airway obstruction (183,184). Many of these children require pulmonary medications such as inhaled bronchodilators and corticosteroids; and are rehospitalized in the first few years of life (165,189,190). Objective evidence of differences in lung development and overall function persist into later childhood and young adulthood.

2.3 Impact of BPD on Neurodevelopment

Bronchopulmonary dysplasia and extreme prematurity have been linked to adverse neurodevelopmental outcome with increased need for educational and other specialized community services (176). In a cohort of extremely low birth weight infants, BPD was associated with Mental Developmental Index < 70 on the Bayley Scales of Infant Development – 2nd edition (BSID-II) (OR 2.18; 95% CI: 1.20 – 3.94) and neurologic abnormality (OR 2.46; 95% CI: 1.12 – 5.40) on assessment at 20 months adjusted age (191). Vohr et. al. further corroborated this amongst a cohort of ELBW infants in the NICHD Neonatal Research Network born in the early 1990s (192). The authors demonstrated elevated risk for abnormal neurologic exam, PDI <70, inability to walk independently and inability to feed independently at 18 to 22 month assessment (192). Factors significantly associated with increased neurodevelopmental morbidity included BPD, steroids for BPD, grades 3 to 4 IVH/periventricular leukomalacia, necrotizing enterocolitis, male gender and severe ROP (192,193).

Schmidt et al have shown that infants born < 1000 grams have a baseline risk for neurodevelopmental disability of 20% at 18 months corrected age (193). With each additional neonatal morbidity (BPD, severe ROP or severe IVH), the probability of neurodevelopmental impairment increases by 20%, so that if all three conditions are present, the risk of poor outcome is > 80% (193). In extremely low birth weight infants with the most severe lung disease, prolonged ventilation has been shown to be an independent risk factor for death and poor neurodevelopmental outcome (109).

Whether pulmonary morbidity and neurodevelopmental outcomes have been affected by trends in neonatal care over the past two decades continues to be an important research question. It has been postulated exogenous surfactant to treat respiratory distress syndrome, antenatal steroids to promote lung maturation and risk-stratified use of post-natal corticosteroid will reduce lung morbidity and long term neurodevelopmental sequelae (20). In a comparison of two birth cohorts of infants born < 1000grams and < 28 weeks gestation before and after these widespread changes, investigators did not find any difference with respect to the overall duration of oxygen therapy or the rates of BPD (20). Moreover, there were significant increases in the duration of mechanical ventilation and length of time CPAP was required (20). Though there was less neurosensory disability at 20 months adjusted age, there were no statistically significant changes in the rates of cerebral palsy or the number of surviving infants with severe cognitive delays on assessment with the BSID-II (20). The authors hypothesize that the potential improvement from decreased use of post-natal corticosteroid may be offset by the increased morbidity associated with severe BPD, including longer duration of ventilation and supplemental oxygen (20). Further data from the ELGAN study group demonstrated that premature infants born < 28 weeks gestation with the most severe BPD were at significantly increased risk for cerebral palsy (OR 5.7, 95% confidence interval 2.5 to 13) (194).

In order to determine whether persistent need for oxygen at initial hospital discharge had an impact on development, Australian researchers compared developmental outcomes at 1, 2 and 4 years follow-up between children who continued to require oxygen at discharge compared to those who were in room air but had BPD based on oxygen need at 36 weeks (195). These two groups were also compared with a group of premature infants who did not have BPD (195). Interestingly though statistically significant differences were noted on Griffiths Mental Development Scales at 1 and 2 year assessments, developmental assessment at 4 years demonstrated that children with BPD (both groups) had slightly lower developmental scores on the McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities than did prematurely born children without BPD (195). This difference was not statistically significant and their results were still within the average range (195). There was also no statistically significant difference between the developmental scores of the BPD room-air group compared with the BPD home-oxygen group (195) The authors postulated that the children with BPD and home oxygen requirements experienced "catch-up" in development once supplemental oxygen was discontinued as a result of decreased stress, improved family functioning, and increased opportunity for developmentally supportive care (195). This study is not generalizable to the entire population of premature infants with BPD as the non-BPD group had significantly higher gestational ages and birth weights than the two BPD groups and the authors excluded children with sensory and motor disabilities (195).

There is an association between the presence of BPD, duration of oxygen use and the use of post-natal corticosteroids with lower cognitive, academic achievement, motor, and attention skills at school age; however, this finding is controversial in the literature (196,197). Using data from the pre-surfactant era local researchers demonstrated a clear difference in outcomes at school age (8 years) in infants with BPD of any severity (including mild) compared to matched controls (196). However, the difference between the BPD group and the matched preterm comparison group was less clear, and thus it was difficult to conclude that the difference in school age outcomes was due exclusively to BPD or to the effects of prematurity in general (196). This study was limited by a relatively small sample size due to strict inclusion and exclusion criteria (196).

Adults with a history of BPD born in the late 1980s and early 1990s had increased rates of cerebral palsy compared with prematurely born adults without BPD history or with term subjects on health-related quality of life self-reports (198). Additionally these adults have higher rates of outpatient services including prescription medications, more frequent hospital admissions per person-year, longer hospital stays and higher rates of intensive care unit admissions per person-year (198). Study investigators also reported higher rates of ADHD symptoms and subjects were less likely to access higher education than were their preterm-born counterparts without a history of BDP or subjects born at term (198). It is unknown whether treatment practice changes in neonatal intensive care in the last two decades will result in improvements in these co-morbidities for survivors of prematurity and BPD.

CHAPTER 3:

Local Incidence and Determinants of Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia and Pulmonary Morbidity in Premature Infants

3.1 Background

The short and long-term respiratory health of premature infants is influenced by specific pulmonary care practices in the neonatal intensive care unit, such as surfactant administration, caffeine therapy and post-natal corticosteroid use. Management strategies in neonatal intensive care vary over time and geographic location as prescribed by evidenced based practice, yet BPD and pulmonary morbidity after discharge continue to be problematic in prematurely born infants (183). Review of infants born in this center between 1997 and 2003 and with birthweight \leq 1250 grams revealed that rates of BPD range from just under 10% for those born at 29 weeks gestation to 70% in infants born at 24 weeks.

3.2 Study Hypothesis:

The primary hypothesis of this study is that BPD rates continue to be high in infants with prolonged mechanical ventilation in addition to those with the lowest gestational ages. Rates of hospitalization and burden of disease attributable to pulmonary morbidity are unknown for this centre. In addition to BPD, other hypothesized risk factors for pulmonary morbidity in early infancy include exposure to smoke in the home, daycare environment and family history of atopy. Pulmonary scoring may provide a useful clinical tool to differentiate infants who are likely to develop severe BPD, thus allowing targeted approach to management.

3.3 Objectives

Prevention and management of bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) and resulting pulmonary morbidity, remains one of the greatest challenges of neonatal intensive care. This observational cohort study had three goals: first to estimate the incidence and risk factors contributing to the development of BPD, second to estimate the incidence and risk factors contributing to the development of pulmonary morbidity in early infancy and third to evaluate the use of two specific early scoring systems in the prediction of BPD and early pulmonary morbidity.

The first objective of this observational study was to estimate the incidence of BPD and to evaluate risk factors including mode and duration of ventilation in a cohort of infants who develop BPD compared with infants without BPD. In this centre unsynchronized non-invasive bi-level positive airway pressure ventilation (NIPPV) is often used to prevent reintubation however evidence is lacking regarding efficacy of this strategy. Early extubation using the INSURE technique (intubation and surfactant administration followed by early extubation) combined with the use of NIPPV may reduce the rate of reintubation, thereby decreasing overall length of intubation and thus improve rates of BPD (117,118,199). In this centre

prophylactic surfactant was used for extremely preterm infants, in addition to early initiation of regular caffeine therapy for apnea of prematurity. The use of inhaled nitric oxide, diuretics and post-natal corticosteroid was primarily targeted as rescue therapy for those infants with more severe neonatal lung disease. These care practices are hypothesized to influence the development of BPD.

The second objective of this study was to determine the incidence of pulmonary morbidity during the first year of life in the survivors of the study cohort. Pulmonary morbidity is defined as any of 1) death from a pulmonary cause; 2) pneumonia or sepsis with a positive blood culture or requiring antibiotics for 5 days or more; 3) continued hospitalization or rehospitalization for a pulmonary cause; 4) continued use of oxygen, diuretics or systemic steroids for pulmonary disease; or 5) use of pulmonary medications, including systemic or inhaled bronchodilators and/or corticosteroids or leukotriene receptor antagonists (163).

The third objective of this study was to evaluate the clinical utility of two pulmonary scoring tools, the chronic oxygen dependency (COD) score and the pulmonary severity (PS) score in the prediction of BPD and pulmonary morbidity during the first year of life (163,164). Receiver operating characteristic curve analyses were used to determine if one score has any advantage over the other when the scores are applied within the first two days of life or at one week of age. Early identification of patients at risk for BPD and pulmonary morbidity facilitate review of local practices and potentially modifiable determinants of short-term lung health. The clinical significance of this study is that it will assess the rate of disease in a local population and thus facilitate comparison with historical rates of disease and rates of disease in other centres, so that management practices can be critically evaluated with respect to continuing quality assurance and improvement.

3.4 Methods

3.4.1 Study Design and Study Subjects

This observational prospective study was conducted on a cohort of premature infants discharged from the Royal Alexandra Hospital, Edmonton, Alberta from August 1, 2008 to July 31, 2009. The cohort included infants born at < 29 weeks gestational age or with a birth weight of \leq 1250 grams that were followed prospectively to 6 to 8 months corrected age. Corrected age was calculated by subtracting the number of weeks prematurity from the infant's chronological age. Infants with major lethal anomalies were excluded if the anomaly was felt to influence the likelihood of hospitalization or lead to major medical morbidity, as this would skew the results of the study. Infants enrolled in another study evaluating oxygen saturation targets were also excluded from this study due to conflicting study goals. Parental consent was obtained to collect demographic information on the mother and infant from the infant's hospital records, and information about lung health was collected
from parents and caregivers at 3 and 6 months corrected age by telephone and face-to-face interview questionnaire respectively. Gestational age was defined by best estimate based on early ultrasound or last menstrual period or by neonatal evaluation according to the method of Ballard and Dubowitz (200). Fenton growth charts were used to determine whether infants were classified as growth restricted, based on birth weight, head circumference and total length below the 3rd percentile (201). There were too few growth restricted infants to determine the influence of symmetric versus asymmetric growth restriction.

3.4.2 Respiratory Management

In this centre infants born < 25 weeks gestation were treated with prophylactic bovine lipid extract surfactant (BLES Biochemicals Inc. DIN 02245464) via endotracheal intubation prior to 30 minutes of age. Infants born > 26 weeks gestation were given early rescue surfactant before 2 hours of age if they required supplemental oxygen with FiO2 > 0.30 on nasal CPAP (6 cm H₂0) or mechanical ventilation. Any infant with persistent or recurrent oxygen and ventilation requirements were given repeat doses of surfactant up to a maximum of three doses within the first 72 hours of life.

For the purposes of this analysis, infants were classified as having BPD if they require supplemental oxygen and/or ventilatory support at 36 weeks post-menstrual age or at final hospital discharge, equivalent to moderate or severe BPD as outlined in the NICHD Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia Workshop (7). Mild BPD or no BPD groups were assessed together as it has been previously shown that oxygen dependency at 36 weeks corrected gestational age is more predictive of pulmonary morbidity in infancy (5). In addition, this study evaluated perinatal and neonatal determinants of BPD within the context of early extubation after surfactant prophylaxis, the use of NIPPV and decreased use of post-natal corticosteroid therapy.

3.5 Data Collection

Data were abstracted from hospital records using a standardized data collection sheet. Information collected included demographic data for the mother (maternal age and parity) as well as maternal comorbidities, labor and delivery history, and gender, gestational age, weight, length and head circumference of the infant at time of birth. Specific variables included duration of rupture of membranes, presence or absence of chorioamnionitis or evidence of maternal infection, presence of maternal gestational hypertension or antepartum hemorrhage, number of courses of antenatal steroids, and mode of delivery. Chorioamnionitis was defined clinically based on the suspicion of the attending obstetrician or histologically confirmed on pathology report based on the presence of polymorphonuclear leukocytes infiltrating the chorion or amnion.

Pulmonary management data, including ventilatory support, medication use and oxygen support were collected at specific time points for infants during their hospitalization (specifically at days 2, 7 and 28 of life; and at 35 and 36 weeks corrected gestational age). The total number of days of ventilation support was recorded for each category: room air, low flow nasal cannula, nasal CPAP or high flow nasal cannula, biphasic nasal CPAP or mechanical ventilation through an endotracheal tube. Partial days on each type of ventilation support were counted as one day if the study participant was treated for 6 or more out of 24 hours on a given day, thus the total days on ventilation support exceeded the actual cumulative days of ventilation support. Mean and median values of inhaled oxygen were calculated for each time point; days 2, 7, 28 and week 36 post-menstrual age. Medications used to manage respiratory distress syndrome and evolving BPD included caffeine, diuretics (aldactazide or furosemide), or systemic dexamethasone. In this centre, dexamethasone has also been used for post-extubation stridor, however this particular use was not observed in this study cohort. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia was diagnosed as mild if the subject required oxygen or ventilatory support at 28 days of age but not at 36 weeks corrected gestational age; moderate if the subject requires < 30% supplemental oxygen at 36 weeks corrected gestational age; severe if the subject requires > 30 %supplemental oxygen or ongoing invasive ventilatory support at 36 weeks corrected gestational age (7). For the purposes of risk factor analysis, study participants were classified as having BPD only if oxygen or mechanical ventilation was required at 36 week corrected gestational age.

Other morbidities recorded included pulmonary hemorrhage, clinical or echocardiographic diagnosis of patent ductus arteriosus (PDA), necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC) as defined by Bell's criteria as stage 2 or higher, intraventricular or parenchymal hemorrhage (IVH) of any severity, retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) classified according to international ROP classification system, hypotension requiring hydrocortisone therapy, and clinical sepsis (202,203). The use of inhaled nitric oxide (iNO) was also documented. PDA defined clinically with echocardiographic was confirmation left to the discretion of the attending physician caring for the infant. Subjects with PDA were further categorized into those requiring no treatment, medical therapy only or surgical ligation. Medical therapy during the study period was intravenous indomethacin with a 3-dose course of 0.2 mg/kg followed by 0.1 mg/kg 12 hours and 36 hours after the first dose. Infants were classified in the surgical ligation group whether or not they had received earlier medical therapy. Intracranial hemorrhage was categorized as none, unilateral, bilateral, periventricular or complicated (developing post-hemorrhagic hydrocephalus). Necrotizing enterocolitis was classified using Bell's criteria and only stage II and above was considered(202). Clinical sepsis was defined as any positive blood, cerebral spinal fluid, endotracheal tube secretions, or urine culture. Superficial infections such as cellulitis or external wound infections were not counted as an episode of clinical sepsis.

At 3 and 6 months corrected age, pulmonary morbidity was defined as per Madan et al. as any one of 1.) death from a pulmonary cause, 2.) pneumonia or sepsis with a positive blood culture or requiring antibiotics for 5 days or more, 3.) continued hospitalization or rehospitalization for a pulmonary cause, 4.) continued use of oxygen, diuretics or systemic steroids for pulmonary disease or 5.) use of pulmonary medications, including systemic or inhaled bronchodilators and/or corticosteroids or leukotriene receptor antagonists (163). In a post-hoc analysis, "minor" pulmonary morbidity, defined as any one of 1.) persistent or recurrent symptoms of cough or wheeze; 2.) recurrent physician visits for pulmonary symptoms; 3.) need for chest radiographs any time after initial hospital discharge; or 4.) continued abnormal symptoms related to feeding, such as choking, gagging or coughing with feeds was also assessed.

Pulmonary outcomes were assessed by questionnaire format with the parents or legal guardians of the study subjects by telephone at three months corrected age and by face-to-face interview in the Neonatal and Infant Follow-up Clinic at six months corrected age. At the six-month evaluation, anthropomorphic parameters and physical assessment of the child was recorded. In addition, pulmonary risk factors were evaluated, including family history of atopy (history of asthma, eczema or allergy in a first degree relative), environmental risk factors such as smoking in the home and attendance at or exposure to day care or day home environments.

3.6 Statistical Analysis

The overall incidence of the composite outcome of BPD or death was calculated at 36 weeks corrected gestational age according to the diagnostic criteria of the NICHD, with further sub classification of severity for mild, moderate, or severe BPD (7). The incidences of mild, moderate, severe BPD, and death were also calculated separately for the whole cohort by gestational age. The overall incidence of pulmonary morbidity as defined above was determined for the surviving sub-cohort and risk factors for pulmonary morbidity were analyzed using univariate and multivariate analysis.

Means, medians, standard deviations and ranges were used to describe the continuous variables for absence/ presence of BPD. Proportions and frequency distributions were used to summarize binary outcome variables. For all variables of primary interest, 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for summary measures were reported. Groups were compared on maternal demographic variables and data, and neonatal demographics and data. Anthropomorphic parameters were compared for study participants with and without BPD and survivors with and without pulmonary morbidity at 6 months corrected age. Two-independent sample Student t-tests and/or Mann-Whitney U tests were used to assess the equality of the means of continuous variables between two groups whereas Pearson chi-square tests or the Fisher's exact test were used to assess the equality for categorical variables. Logistic regression analysis was conducted for one variable at a time to determine which were significantly related to the outcome of BPD using p<0.2 as inclusion. Continuous variables with significant pair-wise correlations, such as birth weight and gestational age, were evaluated to determine which would be more clinically relevant for inclusion in the model to reduce or eliminate colinearity within the model. For the multiple logistic regression analysis, variables included maternal characteristics (age, mode of delivery, number of fetuses, prolonged rupture of membranes, chorioamnionitis, hypertension, antepartum hemorrhage, Group B *Streptococcus agalactiae* status, antenatal corticosteroids and intrapartum antibiotic use), infant perinatal factors (gestational age at birth, birth weight, 1 and 5 minute Apgar scores, presence of respiratory distress syndrome, need for more than one dose of surfactant) and neonatal morbidities and management factors (duration of ventilation support, pulmonary hemorrhage, use of inhaled nitric oxide, patent ductus arteriosus (PDA), necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH), retinopathy of prematurity (ROP), sepsis, hypotension requiring hydrocortisone treatment and overall length of stay).

A second logistic regression analysis with one variable at a time was conducted with select neonatal and post-natal variables (birth weight, antenatal glucocorticoid and post-natal exposure. histologic chorioamnionitis, surfactant exposure, BPD, sepsis, necrotizing enterocolitis, PDA and ROP) to determine which were significantly related to the outcome of pulmonary morbidity at either 3 or 6 months corrected age using p < 0.2 as inclusion. Other risk factors evaluated include environmental exposure to cigarette smoke in the home, family history of atopy and enrollment in daycare. For the purposes of this analysis, the study participant was classified as experiencing pulmonary morbidity if any of the 5 specified pulmonary outcomes were identified at either time point. As with the previous analysis, pair-wise correlation was used and judgment was used to determine clinically relevant variables for inclusion in the model to reduce colinearity. Logistic regression analysis with purposeful/stepwise variable selection methods was conducted to determine the clinical utility of the pulmonary scoring tools in the prediction of pulmonary morbidity at 6 months adjusted age. Post-hoc analysis of the incidence of less severe pulmonary morbidities was also determined, defined as any one of 1.) need for chest radiographs, 2.) physician or emergency department visits for pulmonary cause, 3.) pulmonary signs and symptoms (wheeze, cough or shortness of breath), or 4.) feeding difficulties related to choking, gagging, coughing, spitting up, poor growth, pulling away from feeds or incoordination of swallowing. These outcomes were observed clinically far more often than overall pulmonary morbidity as defined for the study purposes during the first few months after hospital discharge.

COD (FiO₂ X ventilator support) and PS ({FiO₂ X ventilator support } + medication) scores were evaluated separately in the models to determine whether these scores are clinically useful independent of confounders for BPD and pulmonary morbidities. All analyses were performed using STATA 12 (StataCorp. 2011. *Stata Statistical Software: Release 12*. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP).

3.6.1 Sample Size

Based on admissions in the Northern Alberta Neonatal Intensive Care Program in 2006, 154 infants were admitted with gestational age < 29 weeks or weight < 1250 grams at birth. Anticipating a participation rate of 75-80% with loss to follow up of 10-15% the goal was to recruit 100 to 110 study participants. Using PASS 2008 © software for sample size calculation based on the assumption of a 50% event rate in the study population, estimated from data by Madan et al., a total sample size of 92 patients (46 subjects with BPD and 46 with no BPD) was required to detect a difference of 0.15 between the areas under the curves of the ROC curves generated by the two pulmonary scoring systems to predict pulmonary morbidity, assuming 80% power and an alpha of 0.05(163,204). An inception cohort of 103 infants born < 29 weeks gestation and/or birth weight < 1250 grams was recruited to this study from August 1, 2008 to July 31, 2009 (see figure 3-1).





CHAPTER 4:

Results

4.1 Characteristics of Participants

In this study, 102 study participants were recruited between August 1, 2008 to July 31, 2009. One study participant was transferred to a different centre prior to determination of the primary study outcome (BPD). Mean gestational age (\pm SD) at was 27 \pm 2 weeks (range 24 to 37 weeks) with a mean birth weight of 1022 ± 203 grams (range 640 to 1570 grams). 65% of the study subjects recruited were male and 43% were singleton pregnancies. 40% were primigravida mothers and average maternal age (± SD) at delivery was 29.6 \pm 5.7 years. Overall the rate of moderate to severe BPD or death defined as supplemental oxygen need at 36 weeks corrected age was 43.7% (95% CI: 34.9, 54.8) in this population. Gestational age was inversely related to BPD (see Figure 4-1). Classifying by the NICHD Workshop categories, 16.5 % (95% CI: 9.9, 25.1) of infants had no BPD, 37.9% (95% CI: 28.4, 48.0) had mild BPD, 35.9% (95% CI: 26.7,46.0) had moderate BPD and 7.8% (95% CI: 3.4, 14.7) had severe BPD. (See Table 4-1) Two infants died prior to hospital discharge; one infant died at 4 weeks of age from necrotizing enterocolitis totalis, the other died at 45 weeks corrected age of cardiorespiratory failure.



Figure 4-1. Distribution of BPD or Death by Gestational Age.

[Boxes: Number with BPD over total number within each gestational age category]

		В	SPD Severity		
GA (n)			n (%)		
	N	NC1 1	(95% CI)	C	
	None	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Death
24 - 26+6	1(3.4)	8 (27.6)	14 (48)	5 (17.2)	1 (3.4)
(n=29)	(0.09-17.8)	(12.7-47.2)	(29.4-67.5)	(5.8-35.8)	(0.09-17.8)
27 – 29+6	9 (14.5)	30 (48.4)	19 (30.6)	3 (4.8)	1 (1.6)
(n=62)	(6.9-25.8)	(35.5-61.4)	(19.6-43.7)	(1-13.5)	(0.04-8.7)
30 - 32+6	7 (70)	1 (10)	2 (20)	0	0
(n=10)	(34.8-93.3)	(0.3-44.5)	(2.5-55.6)	U	0
≥ 33	0	0	1 (100)	0	0
(n=1)	0	0	(2.5-100)	0	0
All	17 (16.7)	39 (38.2)	36 (35.3)	8 (7.8)	2 (2)
(n=102)	(10-25.3)	(28.8-48.4)	(26-45.4)	(3.4-14.9)	(0.2-6.9)

 Table 4-1. BPD Severity by Gestational Age

4.2 Factors Associated with BPD

Demographic analysis of maternal and neonatal data demonstrated significant differences between infants with mild or no BPD compared to infants with moderate or severe BPD or death (table 4-2). There were no differences noted between infants with and without the outcome of BPD or death in terms of antepartum and perinatal characteristics, such as singleton pregnancy, use of antenatal steroids or antibiotics and presence of prolonged rupture of membranes, chorioamnionitis, maternal GBS status or mode of delivery. Infants who died or required ongoing respiratory support at 36 weeks corrected age were more likely to be male, of younger gestational age and smaller birth weight and be delivered to slightly younger mothers. With respect to potentially modifiable risk factors, infants with BPD or death were more likely to have received multiple doses of surfactant, required more days of invasive and non-invasive respiratory support and higher initial supplemental oxygen needs. They were also more likely to require inhaled nitric oxide. All infants with sepsis or pulmonary hemorrhage developed BPD or died (results not shown). Infants with PDA, IVH and ROP were more likely to develop BPD or death (see table 4-3). The overall length of stay was also significantly longer for infants with BPD (64 \pm 16 vs 113 \pm 70 days, p < 0.0001).

Characteristics	No BPD	BPD	P value
Number of infants, n (%)	56 (55)	46 (45)	
Gestational age, weeks (mean ± SD)*	28.3 (1.5)	27.3 (2.3)	0.01
Mean birth weight, g (mean ± SD)*	1096 (184)	929 (188)	< 0.0001
IUGR (%)**	0 (0)	3 (3)	0.08
Male gender (%)**	30 (54)	37 (80)	0.004
Apgar at 1 min (mean ± SD)*	5 (2)	4 (2)	0.006
Apgar at 5 min (mean ± SD)*	7 (2)	6 (2)	0.004
Length of Stay (days, mean ± SD)	64 (16)	113 (70)	< 0.0001
Maternal age at delivery, y (mean ± SD)*	31 (5)	28 (6)	0.03
Primigravida (%)**	24 (43)	16 (35)	0.4
Singleton pregnancy (%)**	32 (55)	26 (45)	0.9
Cesarean section (%)**	32 (57)	31 (67)	0.2
Prolonged rupture of membranes (%)** (known in 100)	13 (24)	10 (22)	0.8
chorioamnionitis (%)** (known in 75)	16 (38)	13 (39)	0.9
Maternal Group B <i>Streptococcus</i> (%)** (known in 47)	4 (19)	6 (23)	0.7
Intrapartum antibiotics (%)** (known in 84)	42 (62)	9 (56)	0.7
Antenatal steroids (%)** (known in 98)	47 (89)	40 (89)	0.97
Pregnancy induced hypertension (%)** (known in 50)	12 (30)	2 (20)	0.7
Antepartum hemorrhage (%)** (known in 64)	28 (56)	6 (43)	0.6
*Student t-test with unequal variances	** Pear	son Chi Squa	re test

Table 4-2. Characteristics of Infants With and Without BPD

Variable	Mean (± SD) or Frequency (%) n = 46 with BPD	OR for BPD	95% CI	P value
Gestational age at				
birth, weeks	27 (± 2)	0.72	0.57 to 0.92	0.009
Female gender	9 (20)	0.28	0.11 to 0.69	0.006
Apgar at 1 minute	4 (± 2)	0.78	0.65 to 0.94	0.009
Apgar at 5 minutes	6 (± 2)	0.71	0.55 to 0.90	0.006
Birth weight, grams	928 (± 188)	0.995	0.992 to 0.998	<0.001
Maternal age, years	28 (± 6)	0.92	0.86 to 0.99	0.03
Antenatal Steroid*	40 (89)	1.02	0.29 to 3.60	0.97
Surfactant therapy 1 dose 2 doses 3 or more doses	27 (59) 11 (24) 5 (11)	3.66 5.30 10.83	0.94 to 14.19 1.14 to 25.55 1.37 to 85.44	0.06 0.03 0.02
Days of invasive				
ventilation	30 (± 32)	1.17	1.09 to 1.26	< 0.001
Days of non-invasive ventilation	81 (± 66)	1.07	1.04 to 1.10 7.03 to	<0.001
COD Score at day 2	0.59 (± 0.28)	82.58	969.89	< 0.001
PS Score at day 2	0.63 (± 0.28)	72.32	6.19 to 844.80	0.001
COD Score at day 7	0.51 (± 0.16)	2590	97.47 to 68862	<0.001
PS Score at day 7	0.55 (± 0.15)	2823	95.45 to 83491	<0.001
Need for inhaled nitric oxide	7 (15)	9.87	1.17 to 83.49	0.04
Patent ductus arteriosus *known for 45	23 (7.5)	3.31	1.42 to 7.72	0.006

Table 4-3. Predictors of Moderate/Severe BPD or Death: Results from Univariate Logistic Regression

Variable	Mean (± SD) or Frequency (%) n = 46 with BPD	OR for BPD	95% CI	P value
Necrotizing enterocolitis (stage 2 or more)	9 (20)	3.16	0.91 to 11.05	0.07
Intraventricular hemorrhage	19 (41)	3.24	1.31 to 7.97	0.01
Retinopathy of prematurity***				
Stage 1	15 (34)	3.58	1.28 to 10.01	0.015
Stage 2	7 (16)	5.43	1.31 to 22.45	0.02
Stage 3	2 (5)	3.1	0.39 to 24.95	0.29
Laser Therapy	10 (23)	31	3.52 to 273	0.002

Table 4-3. Predictors of Moderate/Severe BPD or Death: Results from Univariate Logistic Regression (Continued)

** known for 44

Logistic regression analysis was used to determine risk factors associated with developing moderate to severe BPD or death. Logistic regression analysis with one variable at a time was used to determine which independent variables to include in the logistic regression model to predict the outcome, using p<0.2 for inclusion in the main effects model. Maternal factors initially included in the model building included maternal age and administration of antenatal steroids. In addition to weight and gestational age at birth, labor and delivery factors that were significant in the univariate analysis included gender and Apgar scores at 1 and 5 minutes. Significant factors predicting BPD in the univariate analysis demonstrated that the COD and PS scores at both days 2 and 7 were significantly associated with the development of moderate or severe BPD or death, in addition to treatment with surfactant, duration of invasive and non-invasive ventilation, continued mechanical ventilation at day 2, treatment with inhaled nitric oxide, presence of any patent ductus arteriosus, necrotizing enterocolitis stage 2 or higher, and any intraventricular hemorrhage (see Table 4-3). Logistic regression analysis with purposeful/ stepwise variable-selection methods revealed that the COD and PS scores were no longer significant when controlling for gestational age, duration of invasive and non-invasive ventilation. There was significant interaction between the duration of invasive ventilation and the duration of non-invasive ventilation (see Table 4-4).

Variable	OR for BPD	95% CI	P value
Gestational age at birth, weeks	2.6	1.3 to 5.1	0.008
Days of invasive ventilation	1.5	1.2 to 1.8	< 0.001
Days of non-invasive ventilation	1.1	1.1 to 1.2	0.001
Interaction Term (invasive ventilation*non-invasive ventilation)	0.997	0.995 to 0.999	0.005
Patent ductus arteriosus	3.8	0.8 to 18.9	0.1
Necrotizing enterocolitis (stage 2 or more)	1.7	0.06 to 51	0.8
Intraventricular hemorrhage	0.3	0.05 to 2.3	0.3

Table 4-4. Predictors of Moderate/Severe BPD or Death: Results fromMultiple Logistic Regression

4.3 Chronic Oxygen Dependency & Pulmonary Severity Score

Comparison of receiver operating characteristic curves to determine whether the chronic oxygen dependency (COD) score or pulmonary severity (PS) score performed better in the prediction of moderate to severe BPD or death revealed that COD and PS scores at day 7 performed slightly better than COD and PS scores at day 2, with an area under the curve of 0.81 (for both COD and PS at day 7) compared with 0.72 (for both COD and PS at day 2) however these differences were not statistically significant (p=0.07 for both comparisons). Comparison of the COD and PS at day 7 demonstrated similar areas under the curve (see Figure 4-2). Neither score was superior in the prediction of moderate to severe BPD (p=0.33).



Figure 4-2. Receiver Operating Characteristic Curves - COD7 and PS7

4.4 Predictors of Pulmonary Morbidity at 3 and 6 Months

Of 88 infants with three month adjusted age data available, 18 (20.5%) demonstrated pulmonary morbidity. Many more infants, 52 (59%) of the 88 infants, experienced "minor" pulmonary morbidity.

There were no differences in gestational age at birth or mean birth weight between infants with pulmonary morbidity at three months adjusted age compared with those without (see Table 4-5). However infants with pulmonary morbidity at three months were less likely to have exposure to antenatal steroids, more likely to be treated with multiple doses of surfactant, intubated and required low flow nasal cannula for a longer period, more likely to have been treated with inhaled nitric oxide and to have longer overall hospital stay. These infants were characterized by higher oxygen requirements at day 2 and ongoing mechanical ventilation at the end of the first week of life. Infants with pulmonary morbidity were also significantly more likely to have neonatal morbidities, such as hemodynamically significant PDA, intraventricular hemorrhage and moderate or severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia (see Tables 4-5, 4-6). Not surprisingly, pulmonary morbidity at three months was also associated with increased frequency of symptoms such as wheeze and increased need for physician assessment and chest radiographs for pulmonary symptoms (see Table 4-7).

Characteristics	No PMORB	PMORB	P value
Number of infants, n (%)	70 (80)	18 (20)	
Gestational age, weeks (mean ± SD)*	28 (1.5)	27.7 (3.1)	0.68
Mean birth weight, g (mean ± SD)*	1066 (194)	989 (200)	0.16
IUGR (%)**	2 (3)	1(6)	0.6
Male gender (%)**	40 (57)	15 (83)	0.04
Maternal age at delivery, y (mean ± SD)*	31 (5)	27 (6)	0.02
Singleton pregnancy (%)**	36 (51)	15 (83)	0.01
Antenatal steroids (%)** (known in 85)	63 (93)	12 (71)	0.01

Table 4-5. Demographic Characteristics of Infants With and Without Pulmonary Morbidity at 3 Months Corrected Age (n = 88)

*Student t-test with unequal variances

** Pearson Chi Square test

Characteristics	No PMORB	PMORB	P value
RDS (%)**	55 (79)	17 (94)	0.12
Multiple doses of surfactant (%)**	14 (20)	9 (50)	0.01
Days of mechanical ventilation (mean <u>+</u> SD)*	8 (13)	27 (30)	0.02
Days of biphasic CPAP (mean ± SD)*	10 (11)	11 (10)	0.6
Days of nasal CPAP (mean ± SD)* (known for 87)	24 (15)	26 (15)	0.65
Days of LFNC (mean ± SD)* (known for 87)	15 (12)	31 (22)	0.007
Day 2 FiO2 (mean ± SD)*	0.24 (0.05)	0.29 (0.08)	0.01
Day 7 FiO2 (mean ± SD)*	0.22 (0.02)	0.23 (0.03)	0.15
Ongoing Ventilation at Day 2 (%)**	20 (29)	9 (50)	0.09
Ongoing Ventilation at Day 7 (%)**	12 (17)	7 (39)	0.05
Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia (%)**	25 (36)	12 (67)	0.02
Pulmonary hemorrhage (%)**	4 (6)	3 (17)	0.12
inhaled NO (%)**	2 (3)	5 (28)	< 0.001
PDA (%)**	20 (29)	10 (56)	0.03
NEC (%)**	7 (10)	2 (11)	0.89
IVH (%)**	14 (20)	8 (44)	0.03
ROP (%)** (known in 82)	32 (49)	11 (65)	0.3
Sepsis (%)**	3 (4)	3 (17)	0.06
Hypotension treated with steroids (%)** (known in 87)	5 (7)	3 (18)	0.2
Length of stay, days (mean ± SD)*	74 (22)	97 (35)	0.01
*Student t-test with unequal variances	** Pearson Chi Square test		

Table 4-6. Neonatal & Respiratory Characteristics of Infants With and Without Pulmonary Morbidity at 3 Months Corrected Age (n = 88)

Characteristics	No PMORB	PMORB	P value
Family History of Atopy (%) (known for 87)**	45 (65)	13 (72)	0.57
History of Atopy (%)**	3 (4)	2 (11)	0.27
Exposure to smoking at home (%)**	19 (27)	8 (44)	0.16
Chest radiographs (%) (known for 85)**	1 (1)	8 (44)	< 0.001
Physician attendance for lung symptoms (%)**	14 (20)	12 (67)	< 0.001
Symptoms of wheeze, cough, shortness of breath (%)**	14 (20)	9 (50)	0.01
Feeding difficulties (%)**	18 (26)	5 (28)	0.9
Received palivizumab prophylaxis (%) (known for 84)**	48 (72)	13 (76)	0.60
*Student t-test with unequal variances	** Dec	urson Chi So	uiare test

 Table 4-7. Risk Factors in Infants With and Without Pulmonary
 Morbidity at 3 Months Corrected Age (n = 88)

*Student t-test with unequal variances ** Pearson Chi Square test

Similarly, 24.5 % (23/94) infants had ongoing pulmonary morbidity and 56.4% (53/94) infants had ongoing "minor" pulmonary symptoms at six months adjusted age follow-up. Gestational age at birth and birth weight was similar between infants with and without pulmonary morbidity. Male gender and younger maternal age at birth were associated with pulmonary morbidity at six months. Singleton pregnancy and exposure to antenatal steroid was not associated with pulmonary morbidity at six months adjusted age unlike at three months (see Table 4-8). Of the neonatal characteristics, longer duration of invasive ventilation support as well as biphasic CPAP and LFNC, need for inhaled nitric oxide, and hypotension requiring corticosteroid therapy were significantly associated with pulmonary morbidity. Of the associated comorbidities, only moderate or severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia and intraventricular haemorrhage remained statistically significantly different between groups (see Table 4-9). Similar to three months adjusted age, infants at six months adjusted age with pulmonary morbidity were more likely to have respiratory symptoms, need physician care and have required chest radiographs, but at six months had also increasing reports of atopy symptoms and feeding difficulties (see Table 4-10). Interestingly, treatment with palivizumab was not associated with less pulmonary morbidity either at three or six months adjusted age (see Tables 4-7 & 4-10).

Percent (unless otherwise specified	No PMORB	PMORB	P value
Number of infants, n (%)	71 (76)	23 (24)	
Gestational age, weeks (mean ± SD)*	28 (1.6)	27 (2.8)	0.17
Mean birth weight, g (mean ± SD)*	1036 (201)	957 (174)	0.08
IUGR (%)**	2 (3)	1 (4)	0.7
Male gender (%)**	41 (58)	20 (87)	0.01
Maternal age at delivery, y (mean ± SD)*	31 (5)	27 (6)	0.02
Singleton pregnancy (%)**	39 (55)	15 (65)	0.39
Antenatal steroids (%)** (known in 91)	60 (87)	21 (95)	0.27
*Student t-test with unequal variances	** Pea	rson Chi Squ	are test

Table 4-8. Demographic Characteristics of Infants With and WithoutPulmonary Morbidity at 6 Months Corrected Age (n = 94)

Percent (unless otherwise specified)	No PMORB	PMORB	P value
RDS (%)**	58 (82)	21 (91)	0.27
Multiple doses of surfactant (%)**	17 (24)	9 (39)	0.16
Days of mechanical ventilation (mean ± SD)*	9 (15)	35 (41)	0.01
Days of biphasic CPAP (mean ± SD)*	9 (10)	16 (9)	0.003
Days of nasal CPAP (mean ± SD)* (known in 93)	23 (14)	41 (54)	0.126
Days of LFNC (mean ± SD)* (known in 92)	17 (15)	35 (38)	0.04
Pulmonary hemorrhage (%)**	5 (7)	3 (13)	0.4
inhaled NO (%)**	3 (4)	4 (17)	0.04
PDA (%)**	22 (31)	10 (43)	0.27
NEC (%)**	8 (11)	3 (13)	0.8
_IVH (%)**	16 (23)	11 (48)	0.02
ROP (%)** (known in 88)	39 (60)	13 (57)	0.77
Sepsis (%)**	4 (6)	4 (17)	0.08
Hypotension treated with steroids (%)** (known in 93)	5 (7)	6 (26)	0.02
Length of stay, days (mean ± SD)*	75 (24)	128 (93)	0.01
Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia (%) (known in 93)	28 (40)	15 (65)	0.04
*Student t-test with unequal variances	** Pea	rson Chi Squ	lare test

Table 4-9. Neonatal & Respiratory Characteristics of Infants With and Without Pulmonary Morbidity at 6 Months Corrected Age (n = 94)

Percent (unless otherwise specified)	No PMORB	PMORB	P value
Family History of Atopy (%) (known for 92)	46 (65)	14 (67)	0.9
History of Atopy (%)	8 (11)	8 (35)	0.01
Exposure to smoking at home (%)	22 (31)	8 (35)	0.7
Chest radiographs (%)	2 (3)	16 (70)	<0.00 1
Physician attendance for lung symptoms (%)	17 (24)	20 (87)	<0.00 1
Symptoms of wheeze, cough, shortness of breath (%)	9 (13)	12 (52)	<0.00 1
Feeding difficulties (%)	8 (11)	10 (43)	0.001
Received palivizumab prophylaxis (%) (known for 84)	50 (71)	16 (70)	0.9
*Student t-test with unequal variances	** Pearson Chi Square test		uare test

Table 4-10. Characteristics of Infants With and Without Pulmonary Morbidity at 6 Months Corrected Age (n = 94)

Evaluation the receiver-operating characteristic of curves demonstrated that there was a trend for the COD and PS scores at day 7 to perform better than the scores at day 2 for predicting bronchopulmonary dysplasia (p = 0.07 for each, respectively). There was a reverse trend noted for predicting three month outcome, in that the scores at day 2 seemed to perform better than the scores at day 7 however this was not statistically significant (p = 0.2 for COD day 2 vs. COD day 7 and for PS day 2 vs. PS day 7 in predicting three month outcome, see Figure 4-3). At six months, the scores had lower areas under the curve overall and there appeared to be no difference between the scores or between the scores at day 2 versus day 7 (p = 0.7 for COD day 2 vs. COD day 7 and for PS day 2 vs. PS day 7 for predicting six month outcome, see Figure 4-4). Overall the areas under the curve for the scores were not significantly different in the prediction of any of the three outcomes (see Table 4-11). Direct comparison of COD and PS scores at day 2 or at day 7 did not demonstrate superiority of either score.



Figure 4-3. Comparison of Receiver Operating Characteristic Curves for COD and PS Scores at Days 2 and 7 for 3 Month Pulmonary Morbidity

Figure 4-4. Comparison of Receiver Operating Characteristics Curves for COD and PS Scores at Days 2 and 7 for 6 Month Pulmonary Morbidity



Score	BPD (n = 102)	3 Months Adjusted Age	6 Months Adjusted Age
COD Day 2	0.72	0.73	0.7
COD Day 7	0.81	0.62	0.67
PS Day 2	0.72	0.72	0.7
PS Day7	0.81	0.62	0.67
p-value*	0.14	0.17	0.89

Table 4-11. Area Under the Curve for COD and PS Scores at Days 2 and 7 for BPD and Pulmonary Morbidity at 3 and 6 Months Corrected Age

*test of equality of the receiver operating characteristic curve areas using graph 1 (COD day 2) as the reference

	Mean (± SD) or			
	Frequency (%)			
	n = 23 with	OR for		Р
Variable	PMORB	PMORB	95% CI	value
Gestational age at				
birth, weeks	27 (± 2.7)	0.77	0.58 to 1.02	0.06
Birth weight, grams	957 (± 174)	1.0	0.995 to 1.00	0.1
Female gender	3 (13)	0.21	0.06 to 0.75	0.02
Maternal age, years	27 (± 6)	0.9	0.8 to 0.98	0.01
Surfactant therapy				
1 dose	12 (52)	1.9	0.4 to 9.6	0.4
2 doses	5 (22)	2.3	0.4 to 14.1	0.4
3 or more doses	4 (17)	8.7	1 to 72	0.05
COD Score				
Day 2	0.63 (± 0.3)	18	2.2 to 142	0.007
Day 7	0.49 (± 0.2)	26	1.6 to 421	0.02
PS Score				
Day 2	0.67 (± 0.3)	20	2.3 to 170	0.007
Day 7	0.53 (± 0.1)	25	1.3 to 454	0.03
Week 35	0.45 (± 0.2)	0.97	0.85 to 1.11	0.7
BPD				
Mild	7 (30)	2.8	0.3 to 25	0.4
Moderate	9 (39)	4.2	0.5 to 37	0.2
Severe	6 (26)	36	2.7 to 481	0.007
Days of invasive				
ventilation	35 (± 41)	1.04	1.02 to 1.07	0.001
Days of non-invasive				
ventilation	92 (± 91)	1.04	1.02 to 1.06	0.001
Inhaled Nitric Oxide	4 (17)	4.8	0.98 to 23	0.05
Intraventricular				
hemorrhage	11 (48)	3.2	1.2 to 8.5	0.02
Hypotension	6 (26)	4.6	1.2 to 16.9	0.02
Clinical sepsis	4 (17)	3.5	0.8 to 15.4	0.09
Length of Stay	129 (± 93)	1.03	1.01 to 1.05	0.001
History of Atopy	8 (35)	4.2	1.4 to 13	0.01

Table 4-12. Univariate Analysis of Factors Associated With Pulmonary Morbidity at 6 Months Corrected Age (n = 94)

Logistic regression demonstrated that maternal and neonatal characteristics, such as gestational age, maternal age, duration of invasive and non-invasive ventilation, history of bronchopulmonary dysplasia and atopy in the first year of life, the chronic oxygen dependency and pulmonary severity scores at days 2 and 7 were predictive of pulmonary morbidity at 6 months corrected age. This effect was reduced to non-significance however, with the inclusion of multiple confounding variables including gestational age, gender, maternal age, duration of invasive and non-invasive ventilation, history of moderate to severe BPD or atopy; however, any conclusions drawn from this result are limited by small outcome numbers (see Tables 4-12, 4-13).

Variable	OR for Pulmonary Morbidity	95% CI	P value
Gestational age, weeks	1.2	0.8 to 2	0.4
Gender	0.5	0.1 to 2.2	0.4
Maternal age, years	0.9	0.8 to 0.996	0.04
COD Score at Day 2	2.6	0.06 to 113	0.6
Days of invasive ventilation	1.03	0.99 to 1.08	0.1
Days of non-invasive ventilation	1.05	1.01 to 1.1	0.02
Moderate to Severe BPD			
	0.09	0.01 to 0.7	0.02
History of Atopy	7.3	1.4 to 39	0.02

Table 4-13. Stepwise Logistic Regression: Pulmonary Morbidity at 6 Months Corrected Age (n = 91)

CHAPTER 5:

Discussion & Conclusions

In this prospective cohort study conducted from August 1st, 2008 to July 31st, 2009, 102 study participants with gestational ages between 24 and 37 weeks and birth weights <1250 grams had sufficient outcome data to evaluate the incidence and determinants of BPD and pulmonary morbidity in early infancy. There were two neonatal deaths and four subjects were lost to follow-up. The overall rate of BPD, defined as supplemental oxygen need at 36 weeks corrected gestational age, was 43.7% in survivors, consistent with rates in the literature ranging from 23 to 46% in infants of similar gestational ages (8-12). This rate is slightly increased from 31% in infants born between 24 and 29 weeks gestation in this centre between 1997 and 2003 (retrospective review of inborns < 1250 grams from the Royal Alexandra Hospital – personal communication, L. Hendson). BPD rates in the literature have changed little in recent years in spite of evolution in the classification of BPD and advances in the care of extremely low gestational age infants (11,12). The use of a physiologic definition for oxygen dependence, where supplemental oxygen need is determined using a standardized approach with targeted oxygen saturation, may improve diagnostic specificity and decrease the subjective nature of determining oxygen dependency (10). This centre does not use the physiologic test for supplemental oxygen need in infants with moderate BPD.
When considering the severity classification proposed by the NICHD/NHLBI/ORD Workshop, rates of BPD were 38% in the mild BPD group (oxygen dependence at 28 days but not at 36 weeks corrected gestational age), 35% in the moderate group (oxygen dependence at 28 days and at 36 weeks corrected gestational age in \leq 30% supplemental oxygen) and 8% in the severe group (oxygen dependence at 28 days and continued mechanical ventilation or > 30% supplemental oxygen need at 36 weeks corrected gestational age) (7). Moderate to severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia rates were highest in the lowest gestational ages in this cohort. Similar rates of moderate BPD have been described in the literature, however the rates of both mild and severe BPD were lower than other published reports, perhaps reflecting differences in determination of supplemental oxygen need or baseline population difference (205).

5.1 Risk Factors Associated with BPD

In the analysis of risk factors for BPD, it is important to consider the potential etiologic relationship between the risk factor and the disease state. New BPD is related to the combination of effects of preterm birth with post-natal events. Categorization of risk factors into intrinsic versus modifiable allows for a targeted approach to management of critically ill premature infants. In this particular cohort, intrinsic factors related to BPD on univariate analysis included gender, gestational age and birth weight. In spite of literature evidence suggesting that antenatal inflammation and placental vascular insufficiency play a role in the development of BPD, maternal conditions such as pregnancy induced hypertension and chorioamnionitis were not shown to be related consistently with the development of moderate to severe BPD or death for this cohort; however, these data were limited by the number of infants with documentation about the presence of chorioamnionitis (206).

In the Durrmeyer et al. study, preterm birth resulting from vascular disorders was related to increased risk for BPD compared with preterm birth resulting from intrauterine inflammation (206). Multivariate analysis demonstrated that the odds of BPD in the inflammation group were significantly increased at the lowest gestational ages whereas in the vascular disorders group, who tended to have higher gestational ages, the odds of developing BPD were increased if infants had intrauterine growth restriction below the 3rd percentile (206). A study from this centre has demonstrated increased risk for BPD when there is antenatal exposure to histologically confirmed chorioamnionitis (54). Forty-two percent of infants with exposure to histologic chorioamnionitis developed BPD compared with 31.9% in those not exposed (54). These infants had lower gestational age and weight at birth and were more likely to have early onset sepsis (54). In this study it was not possible to determine accurately whether preterm birth resulted from placental vascular insufficiency or inflammatory/infectious causes, which may have influenced the results of the multivariate analysis. In addition, there was insufficient data to evaluate the adequacy of intrapartum antibiotic therapy and whether this would have provided a protective effect for the neonate.

Perinatal factors associated with BPD on univariate analysis included Appar scores at 1 and 5 minutes and younger maternal age at delivery. Although the administration of antenatal corticosteroids has been associated with improved survival of extremely premature infants the relationship with the incidence of BPD is less clear (17,41,43). Similar to other published literature, the administration of antenatal corticosteroid was associated with a non-significant increase in the odds of developing moderate to severe BPD or death in this cohort when controlling for gestational age and weight at birth, reflecting the increased administration of antenatal corticosteroid at younger gestational ages (205,207). Though the overall rate of antenatal corticosteroid administration was high at 85.4%, a limitation of this study is that maternal data was recorded from neonatal health records. It was not possible to determine the timing of antenatal corticosteroid administration in relation to the delivery nor was it possible to determine whether multiple courses of antenatal corticosteroids had been administered.

Over time, events that occur during the infant's course in the NICU contribute to ongoing inflammation and injury to the developing lung, such as infection, necrotizing enterocolitis (Bell's stage 2 or higher) and pulmonary congestion secondary to patent ductus arteriosus. In this cohort, the rates of both culture proven sepsis and necrotizing enterocolitis were relatively uncommon at 9% and 12.6% respectively. The presence of any

PDA, treated or not, was more common at 35% however given the relatively small sample size and subjective determination, it was not feasible to determine whether the ductus was considered hemodynamically significant or not. The presence of clinical sepsis was not significantly related to the development of moderate to severe BPD or death on univariate analysis whereas the presence of PDA or Bell's stage 2 or higher NEC were both statistically associated with increased odds of developing moderate to severe BPD or death. After controlling for gestational age, birth weight, surfactant therapy and duration of ventilation support, the presence of NEC or PDA was no longer significant, but both were retained in the final model due to confounding, reflecting the relationship of these complications of prematurity with lower gestational ages and birth weights. We speculated that the relationship of gestational age with moderate to severe BPD or death was somewhat complicated by non-linearity in the relationship between gestational age and moderate to severe BPD or death. This may have been influenced by the inclusion of a near term infant with severe intrauterine growth restriction, however when the analysis was repeated excluding this outlier, similar results were obtained (data not shown). It is possible that using gestational age <29 weeks gestation rather than both gestational age and birth weight <1250 grams for inclusion may have resulted in cleaner data, however with this cohort there were insufficient numbers to evaluate this.

In this cohort, only one infant received post-natal corticosteroids as the use of dexamethasone was extremely limited in this centre during the observation period. because of literature evidence suggestive of neurodevelopmental impairment after exposure to post-natal corticosteroids. In more recent years, low dose dexamethasone has been used as per the DART protocol to facilitate extubation in infants with severe lung disease (208). This treatment is reserved for infants with more severe lung pathology who remain ventilator dependent for prolonged periods of time. Dexamethasone use for management of airway inflammation and subglottic stenosis resulting from intubation and prolonged mechanical ventilation has become more common in this centre in recent years, however there is a lack of standardized criteria for treatment and treatment regimens vary based on physician preference. The short and long term implications of this treatment are unclear. Most infants in this cohort were treated with daily caffeine therapy for apnea of prematurity at days 2 and 7 as well as at week 35. A few infants were treated with intermittent or daily diuretics by week 35 but few were on diuretic therapy during the first week of life. In this region, therapy is usually implemented for management of a diuretic hemodynamically significant PDA and less commonly for management of evolving moderate to severe BPD.

The use of early extubation to unsynchronized non-invasive positive pressure ventilation (NIPPV) to maintain extubation in the first days of life has become standard practice in this centre. Use of this modality did not result in decreased rates of BPD compared with single pressure level NCPAP, however this may have been due to small numbers of infants extubated to NCPAP rather than NIPPV and would need to be assessed in a randomized controlled trial. Infants who required ongoing invasive mechanical ventilation at day 7 of life were much more likely to develop BPD. Overall length of both invasive and non-invasive mechanical ventilation support was associated with the development of BPD and remained statistically significant in the logistic regression model after controlling for gender, gestational age and weight at birth. Duration of invasive ventilation has implications not just for ventilation but also for risk of disability later in life. Increasing duration of invasive mechanical ventilation has also been shown to decrease the rate of survival free of long term neurodevelopmental impairment at 18 months adjusted age (109).

On univariate analysis the chronic oxygen dependency and pulmonary severity scores at day 2 and 7 were both associated with the development of BPD. Areas under the receiver operating characteristic curves were slightly higher for day 7 scores than day 2 scores with fairly equal performance for both scores, indicating relatively high sensitivity and specificity. When the scores were included in the logistic regression analysis, however, the association became statistically non-significant. This may be reflective of differences in practice in the use of medications, oxygen targets and preference for non-invasive and gentler ventilation practices in this centre during this time period. Contrary to data from this cohort, a larger observational study of data from the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Benchmarking Trial demonstrated that a model incorporating levels of supplemental oxygen and ventilation support is useful in estimating severity of BPD (209). This data demonstrated that a model incorporating oxygen and ventilation along with gender, ethnicity, gestational age and weight at birth was predictive of BPD severity when applied at days 1, 3, 7, 14, 21 and 28 with areas under the curve ranging from 0.771 to 0.823 (209). When applied in the first days of life, gestational age had the highest weight whereas level of ventilation support was more important in subsequent time points (209).

Predicting BPD severity is clinically useful in evaluating the potential clinical benefit of therapies with theoretical risk of harm, such as post-natal dexamethasone. It has been shown that the population with the most severe form of BPD has lower risk of mortality or cerebral palsy after dexamethasone therapy than those who had milder forms of BPD (99). Earlier treatment may be of benefit to decrease overall duration of invasive ventilation. Using a scoring system in both research and clinical settings may be of use to evaluate the application of such therapy.

Future applications of this study would be to evaluate the application of similar models to the prediction of short and long term pulmonary morbidity and to the prediction of other neonatal morbidities. Evaluation of the predictive capacity of models such as the Neonatal Research Benchmarking Trial in other settings may be clinically useful in development and application of medical therapies or protocols to decrease clinical risk (209). The ultimate goal is to decrease long-term health and neurodevelopmental morbidity in the vulnerable preterm population.

5.2 Risk Factors Associated With Pulmonary Morbidity in Early Infancy

BPD is directly related to the development of pulmonary morbidity in early infancy and childhood as well as with impairments in neurocognitive outcome (206,210). In this study cohort, 20.5% of infants developed pulmonary morbidity at three months adjusted age compared with 24.5% of infants at six months adjusted age. There is a risk of bias that may influence these results given the different follow-up rates at these two time points as well as recall bias as these outcomes were based on parent interview by telephone and face-to-face interview respectively. In addition, the relatively small numbers of infants with the outcomes of interest limits the conclusions that can be drawn from the analysis. Minor pulmonary symptoms were more common, at 59% and 56.4% for three and six months adjusted age respectively. On univariate logistic regression analysis younger gestational age and lower birth weight, male gender, younger maternal age, need for 3 or more doses of surfactant, COD scores at day 2 and 7, PS Scores at days 2 and 7, moderate to severe BPD, duration of ventilation (both invasive and non-invasive), and the presence of neonatal morbidities including use of inhaled nitric oxide, hypotension requiring treatment with hydrocortisone, clinical sepsis and length of stay during initial hospitalization were all associated with a history of pulmonary morbidity at 6 months adjusted age. Multivariate assessment was limited by very small numbers of infants with the outcome of interest. Higher COD score at day 2 was not significantly associated with the pulmonary morbidity at 6 months adjusted age when controlling for gestational age at birth, gender, maternal age, duration of invasive and non-invasive ventilation, history of BPD and history of atopy. There was no significant benefit of either the COD or PS scores at day 2 or 7 in the prediction of 6 month pulmonary morbidity; however, these results are also limited by the small number of outcomes observed for this sample cohort. The prediction of BPD and early pulmonary morbidity was not possible using these simple models when adjusting for individual differences, which would render them less useful in the clinical setting. These factors would need to be taken into account when building a model. Although the risk at a given time point may be calculated, it may not hold over time given the variations in the clinical course of the infant and the additional morbidities they may develop. The relative contribution of individual comorbidities change over time as the infant continues to mature and develop and may be influenced by additional factors; however, clear relationships are difficult to delineate in this small dataset.

The development of a comprehensive, multidisciplinary BPD care program that promotes lung health, better nutrition and developmentally supportive care has been shown to improve rates of rehospitalization and improvements in the rates of low cognitive and language scores on developmental follow-up of infants with severe BPD(210). In this particular program, infants diagnosed with BPD are started on a care plan that incorporates family-centered inpatient management, facilitation of transition to community care and ongoing coordinated management after hospital discharge (210). Targets of this program include prevention of infection, optimal nutrition support and the provision of neurodevelopmental care in addition to managing ventilation needs and preventing progressive pulmonary hypertension (210). Measurement of pulmonary morbidity as a research outcome is useful in the evaluation of comprehensive care and management programs designed to reduce the overall impact of BPD as well as to evaluate centre-specific outcomes as part of national benchmarking standards.

5.3 Conclusion

In conclusion, this cohort study demonstrated that the incidence of BPD continues to remain high especially in infants who require prolonged invasive and noninvasive ventilation, in spite of improvements in neonatal care practices, including high rates of antenatal corticosteroid use. Assessment of risk factors associated with the development of BPD demonstrated that the most important potentially modifiable factors include the number of doses of surfactant required and the duration of invasive and

non-invasive ventilation. The use of COD and PS scores may have limited clinical utility in that they did not perform as well as in the original studies, perhaps due to differences in early neonatal management. Little difference was seen between the two scores at days 2 and 7 of life as in this centre, most infants are treated early with caffeine therapy and few receive other medications such as diuretic or steroid that early in the neonatal course. Overall, the scores were not as robust in the prediction of pulmonary morbidity at either 3 or 6 months adjusted age. The strength of this study includes completeness of follow-up with limited loss of subjects over the study time period. These results reveal a clear difference in the rate of pulmonary morbidity between infants with and without BPD. Infants with moderate to severe BPD are at increased risk for pulmonary morbidity in early infancy. The study was limited by potential bias introduced by the use of parent recall for the pulmonary outcome data and by very small numbers of infants with the relevant long-term outcomes of interest. Models that predict outcomes early would be clinically useful if they were simple to apply and calculate in the clinical setting, as well as demonstrating high clinical reliability and validity. Unfortunately, while the COD and PS scores performed reasonably well in the prediction of BPD, they were less useful in the prediction of longer-term outcomes in this cohort of infants born <29 weeks gestation/<1250 grams birth weight. Modified scores that are better able to differentiate between the highest risk infants need further study.

References:

(1) Bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD). In: Bureau of Maternal and Child Health and Resources Development Guidelines for the care of children with chronic lung disease. Pediatr Pulmonol 1989;7(S3):1.

(2) Nakamura Y. Pulmonary disorders in infants. Acta Pathol Jpn 1993 Jul-Aug;43(7-8):347-359.

(3) Northway W,Jr, Rosan R, Porter D. Pulmonary disease following respiratory therapy of hyaline-membrane disease. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. New England Journal of Medicine 1967 February;276(7):357-68.

(4) Northway W, Moss R, Carlisle K, Parker B, Popp R, Pitlik P, et al. Late pulmonary sequelae of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. The New England Journal of Medicine 1990 December;323(26):1793-9.

(5) Shennan AT, Dunn MS, Ohlsson A, Lennox K, Hoskins EM. Abnormal pulmonary outcomes in premature infants: prediction from oxygen requirement in the neonatal period. Pediatrics 1988 Oct;82(4):527-532.

(6) Gray PH, Burns YR, Mohay HA, O'Callaghan MJ, Tudehope DI. Neurodevelopmental outcome of preterm infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 1995 Nov;73(3):F128-34.

(7) Jobe AH, Bancalari E. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2001;163(7):1723-9.

(8) Lemons JA, Bauer CR, Oh W, Korones SB, Papile LA, Stoll BJ, et al. Very low birth weight outcomes of the National Institute of Child health and human development neonatal research network, January 1995 through December 1996. NICHD Neonatal Research Network. Pediatrics 2001 Jan;107(1):E1.

(9) Walsh MC, Wilson-Costello D, Zadell A, Newman N, Fanaroff AA. Safety, reliability, and validity of a physiologic definition of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Journal of Perinatology 2003;23(6):451-6.

(10) Walsh MC, Yao Q, Gettner P, Hale E, Collins M, Hensman A, et al. Impact of a physiologic definition on bronchopulmonary dysplasia rates. Pediatrics 2004 November;114(5):1305-11.

(11) SUPPORT Study Group of the Eunice Kennedy Shriver NICHD Neonatal Research Network, Carlo WA, Finer NN, Walsh MC, Rich W, Gantz MG, et al. Target ranges of oxygen saturation in extremely preterm infants. N Engl J Med 2010 May 27;362(21):1959-1969.

(12) Shah PS, Sankaran K, Aziz K, Allen AC, Seshia M, Ohlsson A, et al. Outcomes of preterm infants <29 weeks gestation over 10-year period in Canada: a cause for concern?. J Perinatol 2012 Feb;32(2):132-138.

(13) Walsh MC, Yao Q, Horbar JD, Carpenter JH, Lee SK, Ohlsson A. Changes in the use of postnatal steroids for bronchopulmonary dysplasia in 3 large neonatal networks. Pediatrics 2006 Nov;118(5):e1328-35.

(14) Landry JS, Chan T, Lands L, Menzies D. Long-term impact of bronchopulmonary dysplasia on pulmonary function. Can Respir J 2011 Sep-Oct;18(5):265-270.

(15) Northway WH,Jr. Prologue: advances in bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2009 Dec;14(6):331.

(16) Kapadia VS, Chalak LF, Sparks JE, Allen JR, Savani RC, Wyckoff MH. Resuscitation of preterm neonates with limited versus high oxygen strategy. Pediatrics 2013 Dec;132(6):e1488-96.

(17) Walsh MC, Szefler S, Davis J, Allen M, Van Marter L, Abman S, et al. Summary proceedings from the bronchopulmonary dysplasia group. Pediatrics 2006 March;117(3):S52-6.

(18) Bose CL, Dammann CE, Laughon MM. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia and inflammatory biomarkers in the premature neonate. Archives of Disease in Childhood Fetal & Neonatal Edition 2008 Nov;93(6):F455-61.

(19) Schmidt B, Roberts RS, Fanaroff A, Davis P, Kirpalani HM, Nwaesei C, et al. Indomethacin prophylaxis, patent ductus arteriosus, and the risk of bronchopulmonary dysplasia: further analyses from the Trial of Indomethacin Prophylaxis in Preterms (TIPP). J Pediatr 2006 Jun;148(6):730-734.

(20) Kobaly K, Schluchter M, Minich N, Friedman H, Taylor HG, Wilson-Costello D, et al. Outcomes of extremely low birth weight (<1 kg) and extremely low gestational age (<28 weeks) infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia: effects of practice changes in 2000 to 2003. Pediatrics 2008 Jan;121(1):73-81.

(21) Schmidt B, Roberts RS, Davis P, Doyle LW, Barrington KJ, Ohlsson A, et al. Caffeine therapy for apnea of prematurity. N Engl J Med 2006 May 18;354(20):2112-2121.

(22) Ballard RA, Truog WE, Cnaan A, Martin RJ, Ballard PL, Merrill JD, et al. Inhaled nitric oxide in preterm infants undergoing mechanical ventilation. N Engl J Med 2006 Jul 27;355(4):343-353.

(23) Jones HP, Karuri S, Cronin CM, Ohlsson A, Peliowski A, Synnes A, et al. Actuarial survival of a large Canadian cohort of preterm infants. BMC Pediatr 2005 Nov 9;5:40.

(24) Lee SK, McMillan DD, Ohlsson A, Pendray M, Synnes A, Whyte R, et al. Variations in practice and outcomes in the Canadian NICU network: 1996-1997. Pediatrics 2000 Nov;106(5):1070-1079.

(25) Lee SK, Aziz K, Singhal N, Cronin CM, James A, Lee DS, et al. Improving the quality of care for infants: a cluster randomized controlled trial. CMAJ 2009 Oct 13;181(8):469-476.

(26) Northway W,Jr. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia: Thirty-three years later. Pediatric Pulmonology 2001;32(Supplement 23):5-7.

(27) Martin RJ, Walsh MC. Pre- and postnatal factors in chronic lung disease: implications for management. Paediatric Respiratory Reviews 2004;5(Suppl A):S235-40.

(28) Chess PR, D'Anglo CT, Pryhuber GS, Maniscalco WM. Pathogenesis of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Seminars in Perinatology 2006 August;30(4):171-8.

(29) Jobe AJ. The new BPD: an arrest of lung development. Pediatr Res 1999 Dec;46(6):641-643.

(30) Davis PG, Thorpe K, Roberts R, Schmidt B, Doyle LW, Kirpalani H. Evaluating "old" definitions for the "new" bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Journal of Pediatrics 2002 May;140(5):550-60.

(31) de Kleine MJ, den Ouden AL, Kollee LA, Ilsen A, van Wassenaer AG, Brand R, et al. Lower mortality but higher neonatal morbidity over a decade in very preterm infants. Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology 2007 Jan;21(1):15-25.

(32) Rojas MA, Gonzalez A, Bancalari E, Claure N, Poole C, Silva-Neto G. Changing trends in the epidemiology and pathogenesis of neonatal chronic lung disease. J Pediatr 1995 Apr;126(4):605-610.

(33) Laughon M, Bose C, Allred EN, O'Shea TM, Ehrenkranz RA, Van Marter LJ, et al. Antecedents of chronic lung disease following three patterns of early respiratory disease in preterm infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2011 Mar;96(2):F114-20.

(34) Coalson JJ. Pathology of Chronic Lung Disease of Early Infancy. In: Bland RD, Coalson JJ, editors. Chronic Lung Disease in Early Infancy New York: M. Dekker; 2000. p. 85.

(35) Coalson JJ. Pathology of new bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Seminars in Neonatology 2003 2;8(1):73-81.

(36) Hislop A. Developmental biology of the pulmonary circulation. Paediatr Respir Rev 2005 Mar;6(1):35-43.

(37) Joshi S, Kotecha S. Lung growth and development. Early Hum Dev 2007 Dec;83(12):789-794.

(38) Thebaud B. Angiogenesis in lung development, injury and repair: implications for chronic lung disease of prematurity. Neonatology 2007 June;91(4):291.

(39) King RJ. Pulmonary surfactant. J Appl Physiol 1982 Jul;53(1):1-8.

(40) Chambers HM, van Velzen D. Ventilator-related pathology in the extremely immature lung. Pathology 1989 Apr;21(2):79-83.

(41) Manktelow BN, Lal MK, Field DJ, Sinha SK. Antenatal corticosteroids and neonatal outcomes according to gestational age: a cohort study. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2010 Mar;95(2):F95-8.

(42) Carlo WA, McDonald SA, Fanaroff AA, Vohr BR, Stoll BJ, Ehrenkranz RA, et al. Association of antenatal corticosteroids with mortality and neurodevelopmental outcomes among infants born at 22 to 25 weeks' gestation. JAMA 2011 Dec 7;306(21):2348-2358.

(43) Roberts D, Dalziel SR. Antenatal corticosteroids for accelerating fetal lung maturation for women at risk of preterm birth. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2013;3.

(44) Speer CP. Inflammation and bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Seminars in Neonatology 2003 2;8(1):29-38.

(45) Balinotti JE, Chakr VC, Tiller C, Kimmel R, Coates C, Kisling J, et al. Growth of lung parenchyma in infants and toddlers with chronic lung disease of infancy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2010 May 15;181(10):1093-1097.

(46) O'Brodovich H. Old bronchopulmonary dysplasia – new bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Paediatric Respiratory Reviews 2010;11(Supplement 1):S49-S51.

(47) Kugelman A, Durand M. A comprehensive approach to the prevention of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Pediatr Pulmonol 2011 Aug 3.

(48) Whitsett JA, Wert SE, Weaver TE. Alveolar surfactant homeostasis and the pathogenesis of pulmonary disease. Annu Rev Med 2010;61:105-119.

(49) Eber E, Zach MS. Long term sequelae of bronchopulmonary dysplasia (chronic lung disease of infancy). Thorax 2001 Apr;56(4):317-323.

(50) Supplemental Therapeutic Oxygen for Prethreshold Retinopathy Of Prematurity (STOP-ROP), a randomized, controlled trial. I: primary outcomes. Pediatrics 2000 Feb;105(2):295-310.

(51) Askie LM, HendersonSmart DJ. Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(52) Redline RW. Inflammatory responses in the placenta and umbilical cord. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2006 Oct;11(5):296-301.

(53) Soraisham AS, Singhal N, McMillan DD, Sauve RS, Lee SK, Canadian Neonatal Network. A multicenter study on the clinical outcome of chorioamnionitis in preterm infants. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2009 Apr;200(4):372.e1-372.e6.

(54) Hendson L, Russell L, Robertson CM, Liang Y, Chen Y, Abdalla A, et al. Neonatal and neurodevelopmental outcomes of very low birth weight infants with histologic chorioamnionitis. J Pediatr 2011 Mar;158(3):397-402.

(55) Watterberg KL, Demers LM, Scott SM, Murphy S. Chorioamnionitis and early lung inflammation in infants in whom bronchopulmonary dysplasia develops. Pediatrics 1996 Feb;97(2):210-215.

(56) Viscardi RM. Perinatal inflammation and lung injury. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2012 Feb;17(1):30-35.

(57) Cunha GS, Mezzacappa-Filho F, Ribiero JD. Risk factors for bronchopulmonary dysplasia in very low birth weight newborns treated with mechanical ventilation in the first week of life. Journal of Tropical Pediatrics 2005;51(6):334-40.

(58) St. John EB, Carlo WA. Respiratory distress syndrome in VLBW infants: Changes in management and outcomes observed by the NICHD Neonatal Research Network. Seminars in Perinatology 2003 August;27(4):288-92.

(59) Akram Khan M, Kuzma-O'Reilly B, Brodsky N, V B. Site-specific characteristics of infants developing bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Journal of Perinatology 2006 July;26:428-35.

(60) Bhandari A, Bhandari V. Pitfalls, problems, and progress in bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Pediatrics 2009 Jun;123(6):1562-1573.

(61) Bancalari E. Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia and Neonatal Chronic Lung Disease. In: Martin RJ, Fanaroff AA, Walsh MC, editors. Fanaroff and Martin's Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine. Diseases of the Fetus and Infant. 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Mosby Elsevier; 2006. p. 1155.

(62) Schmolzer GM, Kumar M, Pichler G, Aziz K, O'Reilly M, Cheung PY. Non-invasive versus invasive respiratory support in preterm infants at birth: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2013;347:f5980.

(63) Hecht JL, Allred EN, Kliman HJ, Zambrano E, Doss BJ, Husain A, et al. Histological characteristics of singleton placentas delivered before the 28th week of gestation. Pathology 2008 Jun;40(4):372-376.

(64) Smulian JC, Shen-Schwarz S, Vintzileos AM, Lake MF, Ananth CV. Clinical chorioamnionitis and histologic placental inflammation. Obstet Gynecol 1999 Dec;94(6):1000-1005.

(65) Guinn DA, Atkinson MW, Sullivan L, Lee M, MacGregor S, Parilla BV, et al. Single vs weekly courses of antenatal corticosteroids for women at risk of preterm delivery: A randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2001 Oct 3;286(13):1581-1587.

(66) Peltoniemi OM, Kari MA, Tammela O, Lehtonen L, Marttila R, Halmesmaki E, et al. Randomized trial of a single repeat dose of prenatal betamethasone treatment in imminent preterm birth. Pediatrics 2007 Feb;119(2):290-298.

(67) Crowther CA, Haslam RR, Hiller JE, Doyle LW, Robinson JS, Australasian Collaborative Trial of Repeat Doses of Steroids (ACTORDS) Study Group. Neonatal respiratory distress syndrome after repeat exposure to antenatal corticosteroids: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2006 Jun 10;367(9526):1913-1919.

(68) Wapner RJ, Sorokin Y, Thom EA, Johnson F, Dudley DJ, Spong CY, et al. Single versus weekly courses of antenatal corticosteroids: evaluation of safety and efficacy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2006 Sep;195(3):633-642.

(69) Schmidt B, Roberts RS, Davis P, Doyle LW, Barrington KJ, Ohlsson A, et al. Long-term effects of caffeine therapy for apnea of prematurity. N Engl J Med 2007 Nov 8;357(19):1893-1902.

(70) Geary C, Caskey M, Fonseca R, Malloy M. Decreased incidence of bronchopulmonary dysplasia after early management changes, including surfactant and nasal continuous positive airway pressure treatment at delivery, lowered oxygen saturation goals, and early amino acid administration: a historical cohort study. Pediatrics 2008 Jan;121(1):89-96.

(71) McCallion N, Davis PG, Morley CJ. Volume-targeted versus pressure-limited ventilation in the neonate. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(72) Stevens TP, Blennow M, Myers EW, Soll R. Early surfactant administration with brief ventilation vs. selective surfactant and continued mechanical ventilation for preterm infants with or at risk for respiratory distress syndrome. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(73) Yost CC, Soll RF. Early versus delayed selective surfactant treatment for neonatal respiratory distress syndrome. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2000;1.

(74) Soll RF. Synthetic surfactant for respiratory distress syndrome in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(75) Soll RF. Prophylactic synthetic surfactant for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(76) Soll RF, Morley CJ. Prophylactic versus selective use of surfactant in preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(77) Soll RF. Prophylactic natural surfactant extract for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(78) Soll RF, Blanco F. Natural surfactant extract versus synthetic surfactant for neonatal respiratory distress syndrome. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(79) Pfister RH, Soll RF, Wiswell T. Protein containing synthetic surfactant versus animal derived surfactant extract for the prevention and treatment of respiratory distress syndrome. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(80) Soll RF. Multiple versus single dose natural surfactant extract for severe neonatal respiratory distress syndrome. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(81) Bancalari E. Caffeine for apnea of prematurity. N Engl J Med 2006 May 18;354(20):2179-2181.

(82) Brion LP, Bell EF, Raghuveer TS. Vitamin E supplementation for prevention of morbidity and mortality in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(83) Darlow, Graham, Pj. Vitamin A supplementation to prevent mortality and short and long-term morbidity in very low birthweight infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(84) Suresh GK, Davis JM, Soll RF. Superoxide dismutase for preventing chronic lung disease in mechanically ventilated preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(85) Halliday HL, Ehrenkranz RA, Doyle LW. Moderately early (7-14 days) postnatal corticosteroids for preventing chronic lung disease in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(86) Brion LP, Primhak RA. Intravenous or enteral loop diuretics for preterm infants with (or developing) chronic lung disease. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(87) Ohlsson A, Lacy JB. Intravenous immunoglobulin for preventing infection in preterm and/or low birth weight infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(88) Shah SS, Ohlsson A, Halliday H, Shah VS. Inhaled versus systemic corticosteroids for the treatment of chronic lung disease in ventilated very low birth weight preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(89) Shah SS, Ohlsson A, Halliday H, Shah VS. Inhaled versus systemic corticosteroids for preventing chronic lung disease in ventilated very low birth weight preterm neonates. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(90) Lai NM, Rajadurai SV, Tan KHH. Increased energy intake for preterm infants with (or developing) bronchopulmonary dysplasia/ chronic lung disease. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(91) Mabanta CG, Pryhuber GS, Weinberg GA, Phelps DL. Erythromycin for the prevention of chronic lung disease in intubated preterm infants at risk for, or colonized or infected with Ureaplasma urealyticum. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(92) Halliday HL, Ehrenkranz RA, Doyle LW. Early postnatal (<96 hours) corticosteroids for preventing chronic lung disease in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(93) Shah V, Ohlsson A, Halliday HL, Dunn. Early administration of inhaled corticosteroids for preventing chronic lung disease in ventilated very low birth weight preterm neonates. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(94) Brion LP, Primhak RA, AmbrosioPerez I. Diuretics acting on the distal renal tubule for preterm infants with (or developing) chronic lung disease. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(95) Halliday HL, Ehrenkranz RA, Doyle LW. Delayed (>3 weeks) postnatal corticosteroids for chronic lung disease in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(96) Ng GY, Ohlsson A. Cromolyn sodium for the prevention of chronic lung disease in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(97) Ng GYT, da Silva O, Ohlsson A. Bronchodilators for the prevention and treatment of chronic lung disease in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(98) Shah P, Ohlsson A. Alpha-1 proteinase inhibitor (a1PI) for preventing chronic lung disease in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(99) Doyle LW, Halliday HL, Ehrenkranz RA, Davis PG, Sinclair JC. Impact of postnatal systemic corticosteroids on mortality and cerebral palsy in preterm infants: effect modification by risk for chronic lung disease. Pediatrics 2005 Mar;115(3):655-661.

(100) Barrington KJ, Finer NN. Inhaled nitric oxide for respiratory failure in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(101) Askie LM, Ballard RA, Cutter GR, Dani C, Elbourne D, Field D, et al. Inhaled nitric oxide in preterm infants: an individual-patient data meta-analysis of randomized trials. Pediatrics 2011 Oct;128(4):729-739.

(102) Laughon MM, Smith PB, Bose C. Prevention of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2009 Dec;14(6):374-382.

(103) HendersonSmart DJ, Cools F, Bhuta T, Offringa M. Elective high frequency oscillatory ventilation versus conventional ventilation for acute pulmonary dysfunction in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(104) Bhuta T, HendersonSmart DJ. Elective high frequency jet ventilation versus conventional ventilation for respiratory distress syndrome in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(105) Greenough A, Premkumar M, Patel D. Ventilatory strategies for the extremely premature infant. Paediatr Anaesth 2008 May;18(5):371-377.

(106) Wheeler K, Klingenberg C, McCallion N, Morley CJ, Davis PG. Volume-targeted versus pressure-limited ventilation in the neonate. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010 Nov 10;11:CD003666.

(107) Joshi VH, Bhuta T. Rescue high frequency jet ventilation versus conventional ventilation for severe pulmonary dysfunction in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(108) Bohlin K, Jonsson B, Gustafsson AS, Blennow M. Continuous positive airway pressure and surfactant. Neonatology 2008;93(4):309-315.

(109) Walsh MC, Morris BH, Wrage LA, Vohr BR, Poole K, Tyson JE, et al. Extremely low birthweight neonates with protracted ventilation: Mortality and 18-month neurodevelopmental outcomes. Journal of Pediatrics 2005 June;146:798-804.

(110) Keszler M. INSURE, Infant Flow, Positive Pressure and Volume Guarantee--tell us what is best: selection of respiratory support modalities in the NICU. Early Hum Dev 2009 Oct;85(10 Suppl):S53-6.

(111) Sandri F, Plavka R, Ancora G, Simeoni U, Stranak Z, Martinelli S, et al. Prophylactic or early selective surfactant combined with nCPAP in very preterm infants. Pediatrics 2010 Jun;125(6):e1402-9.

(112) Mazela J, Merritt TA, Finer NN. Aerosolized surfactants. Curr Opin Pediatr 2007 Apr;19(2):155-162.

(113) Finer NN, Merritt TA, Bernstein G, Job L, Mazela J, Segal R. An open label, pilot study of Aerosurf(R) combined with nCPAP to prevent RDS in preterm neonates. J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv 2010 Oct;23(5):303-309.

(114) de Winter JP, de Vries MA, Zimmermann LJ. Clinical practice : noninvasive respiratory support in newborns. Eur J Pediatr 2010 Jul;169(7):777-782.

(115) Friedlich P, Lecart C, Posen R, Ramicone E, Chan L, Ramanathan R. A randomized trial of nasopharyngeal-synchronized intermittent mandatory ventilation versus nasopharyngeal continuous positive airway pressure in very low birth weight infants after extubation. J Perinatol 1999 Sep;19(6 Pt 1):413-418.

(116) Davis PG, Morley CJ, Owen LS. Non-invasive respiratory support of preterm neonates with respiratory distress: continuous positive airway pressure and nasal intermittent positive pressure ventilation. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2009 Feb;14(1):14-20.

(117) Verder H, Robertson B, Greisen G, Ebbesen F, Albertsen P, Lundstrom K, et al. Surfactant therapy and nasal continuous positive airway pressure for newborns with respiratory distress syndrome. Danish-Swedish Multicenter Study Group. N Engl J Med 1994 Oct 20;331(16):1051-1055.

(118) Verder H, Albertsen P, Ebbesen F, Greisen G, Robertson B, Bertelsen A, et al. Nasal continuous positive airway pressure and early surfactant therapy for respiratory distress syndrome in newborns of less than 30 weeks' gestation. Pediatrics 1999 Feb;103(2):E24.

(119) Dani C, Berti E, Barp J. Risk factors for INSURE failure in preterm infants. Minerva Pediatr 2010 Jun;62(3 Suppl 1):19-20.

(120) Finer NN, Carlo WA, Duara S, Fanaroff AA, Donovan EF, Wright LL, et al. Delivery room continuous positive airway pressure/positive end-expiratory pressure in extremely low birth weight infants: a feasibility trial. Pediatrics 2004 Sep;114(3):651-657.

(121) Finer N. To intubate or not--that is the question: continuous positive airway pressure versus surfactant and extremely low birthweight infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2006 Nov;91(6):F392-4.

(122) SUPPORT Study Group of the Eunice Kennedy Shriver NICHD Neonatal,Research Network, Finer NN, Carlo WA, Walsh MC, Rich W, Gantz MG, et al. Early CPAP versus surfactant in extremely preterm infants. New England Journal of Medicine 2010 May 27, 2010;362(21):1970.

(123) Kribs A, Vierzig A, Hunseler C, Eifinger F, Welzing L, Stutzer H, et al. Early surfactant in spontaneously breathing with nCPAP in ELBW infants--a single centre four year experience. Acta Paediatr 2008 Mar;97(3):293-298.

(124) Kribs A. Early administration of surfactant in spontaneous breathing with nCPAP through a thin endotracheal catheter--an option in the treatment of RDS in ELBW infants? J Perinatol 2009 Mar;29(3):256.

(125) Abdel-Latif ME, Osborn DA, Challis D. Intra-amniotic surfactant for women at risk of preterm birth for preventing respiratory distress in newborns. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010 Jan 20;(1)(1):CD007916.

(126) Kribs A, Hartel C, Kattner E, Vochem M, Kuster H, Moller J, et al. Surfactant without intubation in preterm infants with respiratory distress: first multi-center data. Klin Padiatr 2010 Jan-Feb;222(1):13-17.

(127) Heimler R, Hoffmann RG, Starshak RJ, Sasidharan P, Grausz JP. Chronic lung disease in premature infants: a retrospective evaluation of underlying factors. Crit Care Med 1988 Dec;16(12):1213-1217.

(128) Yip YY, Tan KL. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia in very low birthweight infants. J Paediatr Child Health 1991 Feb;27(1):34-38.

(129) Korhonen P, Tammela O, Koivisto AM, Laippala P, Ikonen S. Frequency and risk factors in bronchopulmonary dysplasia in a cohort of very low birth weight infants. Early Hum Dev 1999 Apr;54(3):245-258.

(130) Reininger A, Khalak R, Kendig JW, Ryan RM, Stevens TP, Reubens L, et al. Surfactant administration by transient intubation in infants 29 to 35 weeks' gestation with respiratory distress syndrome decreases the likelihood of later mechanical ventilation: a randomized controlled trial. J Perinatol 2005 Nov;25(11):703-708.

(131) Ramanathan R, Sardesai S. Lung protective ventilatory strategies in very low birth weight infants. J Perinatol 2008 May;28 Suppl 1:S41-6.

(132) Gregory GA, Kitterman JA, Phibbs RH, Tooley WH, Hamilton WK. Treatment of the idiopathic respiratory-distress syndrome with continuous positive airway pressure. N Engl J Med 1971 Jun 17;284(24):1333-1340.

(133) De Paoli AG, Davis PG, Faber B, Morley CJ. Devices and pressure sources for administration of nasal continuous positive airway pressure (NCPAP) in preterm neonates. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008 Jan 23;(1)(1):CD002977.

(134) Davis PG, Lemyre B, Paoli AG. Nasal intermittent positive pressure ventilation (NIPPV) versus nasal continuous positive airway pressure (NCPAP) for preterm neonates after extubation. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2007;3.

(135) Subramaniam P, HendersonSmart DJ, Davis PG. Prophylactic nasal continuous positive airways pressure for preventing morbidity and mortality in very preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008;1.

(136) Morley CJ, Davis PG, Doyle LW, Brion LP, Hascoet JM, Carlin JB, et al. Nasal CPAP or intubation at birth for very preterm infants. N Engl J Med 2008 Feb 14;358(7):700-708.

(137) Davis P, Henderson-Smart D. Post-extubation prophylactic nasal continuous positive airway pressure in preterm infants: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Paediatr Child Health 1999 Aug;35(4):367-371.

(138) Khalaf MN, Brodsky N, Hurley J, Bhandari V. A prospective randomized, controlled trial comparing synchronized nasal intermittent positive pressure ventilation versus nasal continuous positive airway pressure as modes of extubation. Pediatrics 2001 Jul;108(1):13-17.

(139) Moretti C, Gizzi C, Papoff P, Lampariello S, Capoferri M, Calcagnini G, et al. Comparing the effects of nasal synchronized intermittent positive pressure ventilation (nSIPPV) and nasal continuous positive airway pressure (nCPAP) after extubation in very low birth weight infants. Early Hum Dev 1999 Dec;56(2-3):167-177.

(140) Owen LS, Morley CJ, Davis PG. Neonatal nasal intermittent positive pressure ventilation: what do we know in 2007? Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2007 Sep;92(5):F414-8.

(141) Garland JS, Nelson DB, Rice T, Neu J. Increased risk of gastrointestinal perforations in neonates mechanically ventilated with either face mask or nasal prongs. Pediatrics 1985 Sep;76(3):406-410.

(142) Kumar M, Avasthi S, Ahuja S, Malik GK, Singh SN. Unsynchronized Nasal Intermittent Positive Pressure Ventilation to Prevent Extubation Failure in Neonates: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Indian J Pediatr 2011 Feb 2. (143) Kugelman A, Feferkorn I, Riskin A, Chistyakov I, Kaufman B, Bader D. Nasal intermittent mandatory ventilation versus nasal continuous positive airway pressure for respiratory distress syndrome: A randomized, controlled, prospective study. Journal of Pediatrics 2007 May;150:521-6.

(144) Kulkarni A, Ehrenkranz RA, Bhandari V. Effect of introduction of synchronized nasal intermittent positive-pressure ventilation in a neonatal intensive care unit on bronchopulmonary dysplasia and growth in preterm infants. Am J Perinatol 2006 May;23(4):233-240.

(145) Meneses J, Bhandari V, Alves JG. Nasal intermittent positive-pressure ventilation vs nasal continuous positive airway pressure for preterm infants with respiratory distress syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2012 Apr;166(4):372-376.

(146) Migliori C, Motta M, Angeli A, Chirico G. Nasal bilevel vs. continuous positive airway pressure in preterm infants. Pediatr Pulmonol 2005 Nov;40(5):426-430.

(147) Moretti C, Marzetti G, Agostino R, Panero A, Picece-Bucci S, Mendicini M, et al. Prolonged intermittent positive pressure ventilation by nasal prongs in intractable apnea of prematurity. Acta Paediatr Scand 1981 Mar;70(2):211-216.

(148) Lin CH, Wang ST, Lin YJ, Yeh TF. Efficacy of nasal intermittent positive pressure ventilation in treating apnea of prematurity. Pediatr Pulmonol 1998 Nov;26(5):349-353.

(149) Jackson JK, Vellucci J, Johnson P, Kilbride HW. Evidence-based approach to change in clinical practice: introduction of expanded nasal continuous positive airway pressure use in an intensive care nursery. Pediatrics 2003 Apr;111(4 Pt 2):e542-7.

(150) Khorana M, Paradeevisut H, Sangtawesin V, Kanjanapatanakul W, Chotigeat U, Ayutthaya JK. A randomized trial of non-synchronized Nasopharyngeal Intermittent Mandatory Ventilation (nsNIMV) vs. Nasal Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (NCPAP) in the prevention of extubation failure in pre-term < 1,500 grams. J Med Assoc Thai 2008 Oct;91 Suppl 3:S136-42.

(151) Kirpalani H, Millar D, Lemyre B, Yoder BA, Chiu A, Roberts RS, et al. A trial comparing noninvasive ventilation strategies in preterm infants. N Engl J Med 2013 Aug 15;369(7):611-620.

(152) Palta M, Gabbert D, Fryback D, Widjaja I, Peters ME, Farrell P, et al. Development and validation of an index for scoring baseline respiratory disease in the very low birth weight neonate. Severity Index Development and Validation Panels and Newborn Lung Project. Pediatrics 1990 Nov;86(5):714-721.

(153) Palta M, Sadek M, Barnet JH, Evans M, Weinstein MR, McGuinness G, et al. Evaluation of criteria for chronic lung disease in surviving very low birth weight infants. Newborn Lung Project. J Pediatr 1998 Jan;132(1):57-63. (154) Romagnoli C, Zecca E, Tortorolo L, Vento G, Tortorolo G. A scoring system to predict the evolution of respiratory distress syndrome into chronic lung disease in preterm infants. Intensive Care Med 1998 May;24(5):476-480.

(155) Hernandez-Ronquillo L, Tellez-Zenteno JF, Weder-Cisneros N, Salinas-Ramirez V, Zapata-Pallagi JA, da Silva O. Risk factors for the development of bronchopulmonary dysplasia: a case-control study. Arch Med Res 2004 Nov-Dec;35(6):549-553.

(156) Kim YD, Kim EA, Kim KS, Pi SY, Kang W. Scoring method for early prediction of neonatal chronic lung disease using modified respiratory parameters. J Korean Med Sci 2005 Jun;20(3):397-401.

(157) Bhering CA, Mochdece CC, Moreira ME, Rocco JR, Sant'Anna GM. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia prediction model for 7-day-old infants. Jornal de Pediatria 2007;83(2):163-70.

(158) Sinkin RA, Cox C, Phelps DL. Predicting risk for bronchopulmonary dysplasia: selection criteria for clinical trials. Pediatrics 1990 Nov;86(5):728-736.

(159) Ryan SW, Nycyk J, Shaw BN. Prediction of chronic neonatal lung disease on day 4 of life. Eur J Pediatr 1996 Aug;155(8):668-671.

(160) Yoder BA, Anwar MU, Clark RH. Early prediction of neonatal chronic lung disease: a comparison of three scoring methods. Pediatr Pulmonol 1999 Jun;27(6):388-394.

(161) Kavvadia V, Greenough A, Dimitriou G. Early prediction of chronic oxygen dependency by lung function test results. Pediatr Pulmonol 2000 Jan;29(1):19-26.

(162) Corcoran JD, Patterson CC, Thomas PS, Halliday HL. Reduction in the risk of bronchopulmonary dysplasia from 1980-1990: results of a multivariate logistic regression analysis. Eur J Pediatr 1993 Aug;152(8):677-681.

(163) Madan A, Brozanski BS, Cole CH, Oden NL, Cohen G, Phelps DL. A Pulmonary score for assessing the severity of neonatal chronic lung disease. Pediatrics 2005;115(4):e450-7.

(164) May C, Kavvadia V, Dimitriou G, Greenough A. A scoring system to predict chronic oxygen dependency. Eur J Pediatr 2007 Mar;166(3):235-240.

(165) Smith VC, Zupancic JA, McCormick MC, Croen LA, Greene J, Escobar GJ, et al. Rehospitalization in the first year of life among infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. J Pediatr 2004 Jun;144(6):799-803.

(166) Greenough A, Alexander J, Burgess S, Chetcuti PA, Cox S, Lenney W, et al. Home oxygen status and rehospitalisation and primary care requirements of infants with chronic lung disease. Arch Dis Child 2002 Jan;86(1):40-43.

(167) Furman L, Baley J, Borawski-Clark E, Aucott S, Hack M. Hospitalization as a measure of morbidity among very low birth weight infants with chronic lung disease. J Pediatr 1996 Apr;128(4):447-452.

(168) Cunningham CK, McMillan JA, Gross SJ. Rehospitalization for respiratory illness in infants of less than 32 weeks' gestation. Pediatrics 1991 Sep;88(3):527-532.

(169) Ferrara TB, Couser RJ, Hoekstra RE. Side effects and long-term follow-up of corticosteroid therapy in very low birthweight infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. J Perinatol 1990 Jun;10(2):137-142.

(170) Sauve RS, Singhal N. Long-term morbidity of infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Pediatrics 1985 Nov;76(5):725-733.

(171) Luu TM, Lefebvre F, Riley P, Infante-Rivard C. Continuing utilisation of specialised health services in extremely preterm infants. 2010; 95 (5): F320-5.

(172) Escobar GJ, McCormick MC, Zupancic JA, Coleman-Phox K, Armstrong MA, Greene JD, et al. Unstudied infants: outcomes of moderately premature infants in the neonatal intensive care unit. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2006 Jul;91(4):F238-44.

(173) Reduction of respiratory syncytial virus hospitalization among premature infants and infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia using respiratory syncytial virus immune globulin prophylaxis. The PREVENT Study Group. Pediatrics 1997 Jan;99(1):93-99.

(174) Saez-Llorens X, Castano E, Null D, Steichen J, Sanchez PJ, Ramilo O, et al. Safety and pharmacokinetics of an intramuscular humanized monoclonal antibody to respiratory syncytial virus in premature infants and infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. The MEDI-493 Study Group. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1998 Sep;17(9):787-791.

(175) Palivizumab, a humanized respiratory syncytial virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants. The IMpact-RSV Study Group. Pediatrics 1998 Sep;102(3 Pt 1):531-537.

(176) Hintz SR, Kendrick DE, Vohr BR, Poole WK, Higgins RD, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) Neonatal Research Network. Community supports after surviving extremely low-birth-weight, extremely preterm birth: special outpatient services in early childhood. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2008 Aug;162(8):748-755.

(177) Wade KC, Lorch SA, Bakewell-Sachs S, Medoff-Cooper B, Silber JH, Escobar GJ. Pediatric care for preterm infants after NICU discharge: high number of office visits and prescription medications. J Perinatol 2008 Jul 3.

(178) Hennessy EM, Bracewell M, Wood N, Wolke D, Costeloe KL, Gibson AT, et al. Respiratory health in pre-school and school age children following extremely preterm birth. Arch Dis Child 2008 Jun 18.

(179) Landry JS, Croitoru D, Jin Y, Schwartzman K, Benedetti A, Menzies D. Health care utilization by preterm infants with respiratory complications in Quebec. Can Respir J 2012 Jul-Aug;19(4):255-260.

(180) Baraldi E, Bonetto G, Zacchello F, Filippone M. Low exhaled nitric oxide in school-age children with bronchopulmonary dysplasia and airflow limitation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005 Jan 1;171(1):68-72.

(181) Halvorsen T, Skadberg BT, Eide GE, Roksund O, Aksnes L, Oymar K. Characteristics of asthma and airway hyper-responsiveness after premature birth. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2005 Sep;16(6):487-494.

(182) Kwinta P, Lis G, Klimek M, Grudzien A, Tomasik T, Poplawska K, et al. The prevalence and risk factors of allergic and respiratory symptoms in a regional cohort of extremely low birth weight children (<1000 g). Ital J Pediatr 2013;39:4.

(183) Vrijlandt E, Boezen H, Gerritsen J, Stremmelaar E, Duiverman E. Respiratory health in prematurely born preschool children with and without bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Journal of Pediatrics 2007;150:256-61.

(184) Palta M, Sadek-Badawi M, Madden K, Green C. Pulmonary testing using peak flow meters of very low birth weight children born in the perisurfactant era and school controls at age 10 years. Pediatric Pulmonology 2007;42:819-28.

(185) Halvorsen T, Skadberg BT, Eide GE, Roksund OD, Markestad T. Better care of immature infants; Has it influenced long-term pulmonary outcome? Acta Paediatrica 2006 MAY;95(5):547-554.

(186) Robin B, Kim YJ, Huth J, Klocksieben J, Torres M, Tepper RS, et al. Pulmonary function in bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Pediatr Pulmonol 2004 Mar;37(3):236-242.

(187) Mahut B, de Blic J, Emond S, Benoist M, Jarreau P, Lacaze-Masmonteil T, et al. Chest computed tomography findings in bronchopulmonary dysplasia and correlation with lung function. Archives of Disease in Childhood: Fetal & Neonatal Edition 2007;92(2):25 August 2007.

(188) Wong PM, Lees AN, Louw J, Lee FY, French N, Gain K, et al. Emphysema in young adult survivors of moderate to severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Eur Respir J 2008 Apr 2.

(189) Ehrenkranz RA, Walsh MC, Bohr BR, Jobe AH, Wright LL, Fanaroff AA, et al. Validation of the National Institutes of Health consensus definition of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Pediatrics 2005 December;116(6):1353-60.

(190) Gross SJ, Iannuzzi DM, Kveselis DA, Anbar RD. Effect of preterm birth on pulmonary function at school age: A prospective controlled study. Journal of Pediatrics 1998 August;133:188-92.

(191) Hack M, Wilson-Costello D, Friedman H, Taylor GH, Schluchter M, Fanaroff AA. Neurodevelopment and predictors of outcomes of children with birth weights of less than 1000 g: 1992-1995. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2000 Jul;154(7):725-731.

(192) Vohr BR, Wright LL, Dusick AM, Mele L, Verter J, Steichen JJ, et al. Neurodevelopmental and functional outcomes of extremely low birth weight infants in the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network, 1993-1994. Pediatrics 2000 Jun;105(6):1216-1226.

(193) Schmidt B, Asztalos EV, Roberts RS, Robertson CM, Sauve RS, Whitfield MF, et al. Impact of bronchopulmonary dysplasia, brain injury, and severe retinopathy on the outcome of extremely low-birth-weight infants at 18 months: results from the trial of indomethacin prophylaxis in preterms. JAMA 2003 Mar 5;289(9):1124-1129.

(194) Van Marter LJ, Kuban KC, Allred E, Bose C, Dammann O, O'Shea M, et al. Does bronchopulmonary dysplasia contribute to the occurrence of cerebral palsy among infants born before 28 weeks of gestation? Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2011 Jan;96(1):F20-9.

(195) Moon NM, Mohay HA, Gray PH. Developmental patterns from 1 to 4 years of extremely preterm infants who required home oxygen therapy. Early Hum Dev 2007 Apr;83(4):209-216.

(196) Robertson CM, Etches PC, Goldson E, Kyle JM. Eight-year school performance, neurodevelopmental, and growth outcome of neonates with bronchopulmonary dysplasia: a comparative study. Pediatrics 1992 Mar;89(3):365-372.

(197) Short EJ, Klein NK, Lewis BA, Fulton S, Eisengart S, Kercsmar C, et al. Cognitive and academic consequences of bronchopulmonary dysplasia and very low birth weight: 8-year-old outcomes. Pediatrics 2003 Nov;112(5):e359.

(198) Beaudoin S, Tremblay GM, Croitoru D, Benedetti A, Landry JS. Healthcare utilization and health-related quality of life of adult survivors of preterm birth complicated by bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Acta Paediatr 2013 Jun;102(6):607-612.

(199) Verder H, Bohlin K, Kamper J, Lindwall R, Jonsson B. Nasal CPAP and surfactant for treatment of respiratory distress syndrome and prevention of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Acta Paediatr 2009 Sep;98(9):1400-1408.

(200) Ballard JL, Khoury JC, Wedig K, Wang L, Eilers-Walsman BL, Lipp R. New Ballard Score, expanded to include extremely premature infants. J Pediatr 1991 Sep;119(3):417-423.

(201) Fenton TR. A new growth chart for preterm babies: Babson and Benda's chart updated with recent data and a new format. BMC Pediatr 2003 Dec 16;3:13.

(202) Bell MJ. Neonatal necrotizing enterocolitis. N Engl J Med 1978 Feb 2;298(5):281-282.

(203) International Committee for the Classification of Retinopathy of,Prematurity. The International Classification of Retinopathy of Prematurity revisited. Arch Ophthalmol 2005 Jul;123(7):991-999.

(204) NCSS. PASS Power Analysis and Sample Size. 2008.

(205) Landry JS, Menzies D. Occurrence and severity of bronchopulmonary dysplasia and respiratory distress syndrome after a preterm birth. Paediatr child health 2011 Aug;16(7):399-403.

(206) Durrmeyer X, Kayem G, Sinico M, Dassieu G, Danan C, Decobert F. Perinatal risk factors for bronchopulmonary dysplasia in extremely low gestational age infants: a pregnancy disorder-based[NON-BREAKING SPACE]approach. J Pediatr 2012 Apr;160(4):578-583.e2.

(207) Eriksson L, Haglund B, Ewald U, Odlind V, Kieler H. Short and long-term effects of antenatal corticosteroids assessed in a cohort of 7,827 children born preterm. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2009;88(8):933-938.

(208) Doyle LW, Davis PG, Morley CJ, McPhee A, Carlin JB, DART Study Investigators. Low-dose dexamethasone facilitates extubation among chronically ventilator-dependent infants: a multicenter, international, randomized, controlled trial. Pediatrics 2006 Jan;117(1):75-83.

(209) Laughon MM, Langer JC, Bose CL, Smith PB, Ambalavanan N, Kennedy KA, et al. Prediction of Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia by Postnatal Age in Extremely Premature Infants. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2011 Jun 15;183(12):1715-1722.

(210) Shepherd EG, Knupp AM, Welty SE, Susey KM, Gardner WP, Gest AL. An interdisciplinary bronchopulmonary dysplasia program is associated with improved neurodevelopmental outcomes and fewer rehospitalizations. J Perinatol 2012 Jan;32(1):33-38.